
Date Published: 23 February 2021     

Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Tuesday 2 March 2021 at 10.00 am

A remote access meeting via Webex

AGENDA

1  Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

2  Declarations of Interest 

To confirm any declarations of interest

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

3  Minutes (Pages 1 - 30)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 12 January 2021 (attached)

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

4  Public Representations 

Over the past year the Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has piloted an approach whereby members of the public can 
make representations at committee meetings.

At each meeting, there shall be up to 20 minutes set aside for public 
representations, (3 minutes allocated per member of the public). Any 
person who lives or works in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council, may make a representation on any matter which relates to 
any item on the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee agenda for that 
meeting.

Notification of your intention to make representation at the meeting should 
be given by 4.00 pm three clear working days before the date of the 
meeting, (excluding the day of the meeting).

The notification deadline to make representation at the committee 
meeting on 2 March 2021 is 4.00 pm on Thursday 25 February 2021. 

To confirm your request to make a representation, please email Jo Moore at 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Cllr Stephen 
Hirst

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

Please note, this meeting will be held as a remote access meeting, for 
which it will be necessary to join the meeting by electronic means via the 
Webex application. An invitation to join the meeting will be provided prior to 
the meeting. If you have any questions on this process, please include in 
the email.

SCRUTINY ITEMS

5  Community Phlebotomy Services (Pages 31 - 32)

To receive an update on changes to Community Phlebotomy Services. 

Dr Andy 
Seymour 
GCCG

6  Covid-19 Temporary Service Changes (Pages 33 - 60)

To receive an update on the temporary service changes introduced in 
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The committee to consider proposals for the future.

Ellen Rule 
GCCG

INFORMATION REPORTS

7  Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Performance Report 
(Pages 61 - 90)

To receive an update on the performance of the Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (GCCG) against NHS Constitutional and other 
agreed standards.

Mary Hutton 
GCCG

8  One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) Lead Report (Pages 
91 - 106)

To receive an update on the work of the One Gloucestershire Integrated 
Care System (ICS) Partnership.  

The report includes updates on the Covid-19 response, Fit for the Future 
Consultation and the Forest of Dean Community Hospital Consultation.

NHS Partners include: - 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
Primary Care (GP) Providers
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
South West Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust

Mary Hutton 
GCCG 

9  GCCG Clinical Chair/Accountable Officer Report (Pages 107 - 118)

To note the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer report. 

Mary Hutton
Dr Andy 
Seymour 
GCCG

10  Work Plan Review 2017-21 Cllr Stephen 
Hirst 



    

To review the work of the committee 2017-21 and make suggestions on 
scrutiny items for the new committee to consider post the council elections 
in May 2021.

Membership – Cllr Stephen Hirst (Chair), Cllr Paul Hodgkinson (Vice-Chair), 
Cllr Andrew Gravells MBE, Cllr Terry Hale, Cllr Brian Oosthuysen, Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE, 
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE, Cllr Robert Vines and Cllr Suzanne Williams

Co-opted Members - Cllr Collette Finnegan, Cllr Martin Horwood, Cllr Steve Lydon, Cllr Helen 
Molyneux, Cllr Dilys Neill and Cllr Jill Smith

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed at 
this meeting, Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a 
declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer at Gloucestershire 
County Council (Rob Ayliffe Tel: 01452 328506  e-mail: 
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Jo Moore via email at jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk or by 
telephone on 01452 324196
 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for this committee,(please refer to
the Gloucestershire County Council Constitution for information).

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
Minutes of the meeting of the Gloucestershire Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee held
on Tuesday 12 January 2021. 

This meeting was held as a remote access meeting and can be viewed via YouTube link 
on the Gloucestershire County Council website. To view the meeting, please open the link 
here

Present: Cllr Brian Robinson 
(Chair)
Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 
(Vice-Chair)
Cllr Brian Oosthuysen
Cllr Nigel Robbins OBE
Cllr Terry Hale
Cllr Stephen Hirst
Cllr Pam Tracey MBE

Cllr Robert Vines
Cllr Suzanne Williams
Cllr Martin Horwood
Cllr Dilys Neill
Cllr Collette Finnegan
Cllr Steve Lydon
Cllr Jill Smith

Officers: NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)/ 
One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) 

Mary Hutton – Accountable Officer and ICS Lead
Dr Andy Seymour – Clinical Chair 
Ellen Rule – Director of Transformation and Service Redesign
Becky Parish – Associate Director Engagement and Experience
Caroline Smith – Senior Management: Engagement and Inclusion

Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
Deborah Lee – Chief Executive 
Peter Lachecki – Chair 
Simon Lanceley- Director of Transformation

Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
Paul Roberts – Chief Executive
Ingrid Barker – Chair

Gloucestershire County Council 
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care 
Commissioning
Cllr Kathy Williams, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery 
Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and 
Communities

Page 1

Agenda Item 3

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/online-meetings-archive/january-2021-online-meetings/health-overview-scrutiny-committee-tuesday-12-january-2021-1000-am/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

South West Ambulance Service Foundation Trust
Stephanie Bonser - County Commander

Gloucestershire Healthwatch - Gill Bridgland

1. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllr Helen Molyneux, (representing Forest of Dean 
District Council). 

No substitutions were made at the meeting. 

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

3. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 17 November 2020 were confirmed as a true 
record of that meeting.

4. PUBLIC REPRESENTATIONS 

No public representations were made at the meeting. 

Chairman, Cllr Brian Robinson, referred to the public representation statement 
made by Mr Marco Taylor at the committee meeting on 17 November 2020 relating 
to changes to community phlebotomy services in the South Cotswolds. 

Cllr Robinson also referred to an email received from Mr Taylor after the meeting, 
questioning the accuracy of some of the statements made by the NHS CCG. Cllr 
Robinson advised the committee that the NHS CCG had since confirmed that the 
statements made at the scrutiny committee meeting on 17 November 2020 were 
valid. 

An email to this effect, including the comments made by Mr Taylor and the 
response by the NHS CCG were shared with the committee prior to the meeting 
and attached to the minutes of this meeting.  

Members noted that an update on community phlebotomy services would be 
presented at the committee meeting on 2 March 2021. 

5. SOUTH WEST AMBULANCE SERVICE PERFORMANCE UPDATE 

The committee received an update from Stephanie Bonser, (County Commander 
for the South Western Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust), on the 
performance of the South Western Ambulance Service (SWAST). The data briefing 
note presented at the meeting is attached to the minutes and can be viewed here. 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

The County Commander confirmed that activity in the Gloucestershire area had 
increased during the 12 month period from January to December 2020, (in 
response to the impact of the COVID-19 emergency). Activity had decreased 
slightly during the initial lockdown, increased slightly from June, and was currently 
showing a significant increase since December 2020. It was confirmed that, after a 
slight reduction from an average of 8.2 minutes for the Category 1 average 
response target in November 2020, there had been a significant challenge on 
response targets since December. Increased pressure on service crews has 
resulted in handover delays. Category 2 response targets had also been affected 
during this time, with an average response time of 22.4 minutes against a target 
average of 18.

Prior to December, response times for the 12 month period commencing October 
2019, had reported performance averages against Category 1 response targets, 
(life threatening injuries and illnesses/target average of 7 minutes), as fairly steady, 
whilst performance averages against Category 2 response targets, (emergency 
calls/target average of 18 minutes), and Category 3 response targets, (urgent 
calls/target average of 90% within 120 minutes), had improved during the last 3 
months. 

Collaboration with Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service, (GFRS), from 
November 2020 had resulted in crews attending 428 incidents. The work of 
paramedics, trained first responders, community response managers and the 
rigorous hygiene and infection control of ambulance crews, aimed to ensure 
minimal impact on the welfare and care of patients during the COVID-19 
emergency, including admissions to Gloucestershire Royal Hospital. The Trust 
continued to adhere to Government guidelines in order to protect its staff, patients 
and members of the public. 

An update on performance against agreed national standards was included in the 
GCCG performance report to the committee, (this item was considered at item 8 of 
the agenda).

Responding to concerns about ambulance response times in rural areas, (prior to 
and after the pandemic), it was acknowledged that, whilst this would always present 
a challenge, the position was comparable to other rural areas nationally. Rota 
planning and projections of where calls from rural locations were most likely would 
continue to assist in managing the issue. A decision a few years ago, to place an 
extra ambulance crew in the Cotswolds District, had not made a significant impact. 

Other questions related to the need to review performance response time averages; 
the relationship between SWAST and GFRS; and the vaccination roll out to 
ambulance crews. In response to the questions, it was confirmed that performance 
averages would be reviewed if the national average continued to increase; the 
relationship between community first responders and GFRS crew had been 
excellent during the pandemic, (it was recognised that it was important to continue 
this relationship going forward); vaccinations were being offered to all front line 
paramedics and community first responders. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Enquiring about the level of training provided to community first responders, (and 
GFRS crew), members were assured that the training was very good and continued 
to be built on as the service requirements changed to meet new and more 
challenging requirements. 

Responding to questions on what proportion of front line SWAST staff had been 
vaccinated against the coronavirus, it was reported that the number of vaccinations 
in the South West region was comparable with other regions nationally. It was 
suggested that an update on the vaccination roll-out programme be included in the 
ICS lead report at the next meeting and a presentation made to the committee later 
in the year. The presentation to include comparisons with other areas, including 
examples of good practice. Action by – GCCG/SWAST

The committee noted the information and requested regular updates at future 
meetings. It was later suggested a presentation be made to the new committee 
after the County Council election in May. Action by Jo Moore Since the meeting, a 
request has been made for SWAST to give an update at the committee meeting on 
13 July 2020.

6. FIT FOR THE FUTURE CONSULTATION (OUTPUT PRESENTATION) 

The committee received an update on the NHS Fit for the Future Consultation from 
the Gloucestershire NHS Clinical Commissioning Group, (representing One 
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System), on the proposals for the ICS Consultation 
on the development of specialist hospital services at Cheltenham General Hospital 
(CGH) and Gloucestershire Royal (GRH) Hospital. The consultation forms part of 
the Gloucestershire Fit for the Future Programme and long term vision of ensuring 
Gloucestershire is placed at the forefront of healthcare delivery nationally. The 
consultation ran from 22 October 2020 until 17 December 2020. 

Details of the consultation are available on the NHS One Gloucestershire website 
and can be viewed here 

Details of the interim output of consultation report (published on 11 January 2021) 
can be viewed here 

Responding to comments about the limited time for members to consider the 
interim output report, it was explained that the proximity of the closing date of the 
consultation, (on 17 December 2020), to the date of the meeting had made it 
difficult to publish the information with the agenda. Members were advised that 
there would be other opportunities, including the Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting on 2 March 2021, to express their views.

The purpose of the Fit for the Future Consultation is to seek views on the future 
provision of five specialist hospital services in Gloucestershire, comprising:- 

a) Acute Medicine – the coordination of initial medical care for patients referred 
to the Acute Medical Team by a GP or an Emergency Department and 
where decisions are made on whether patients require a hospital stay; 

Page 4

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/
https://www.onegloucestershire.net/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/FFTF-IOOC-Report.pdf


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

b) Gastroenterology inpatient services - medical care for stomach, pancreas, 
bowel or liver problems; 

c) General Surgery conditions relating to the gut, (specifically, emergency 
general surgery, planned lower gastrointestinal (GI) (colorectal) and day 
case upper and lower GI surgery); 

d) Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS) including vascular surgery;.
e) Trauma and Orthopaedic inpatient services, including diagnosis and 

treatment of conditions relating to the bones and joints.

Noting concerns about consulting during a pandemic and the challenges of having 
to adhere to government guidelines, it was confirmed that the Fit for the Future 
Consultation included a broad range of communication channels, involving; 
 

a) The distribution of approximately 5,000 consultation booklets; 
b) The distribution of 297,000 door-to-door leaflets, generating 1700 plus 

requests for information;
c) Over 75 consultation events;
d) More than 1000 socially distanced face-to-face contacts with the public, plus 

350 staff;
e) Facebook postings involving a reach of over 140,000 people, 1,500 

engagements, and over 1,000 clicks on the consultation link;
f) 35 plus tweets, generating 30,000 plus impressions and almost 800 

engagements; 
g) 700 plus Fit for the Future surveys completed 

Feedback to the consultation was received in two ways; from the responses to the 
Fit for the Future Survey (Main Survey and Easy Read Survey), and from other 
correspondence and written responses, including an alternative survey set up by 
REACH to inform their response to the proposals. The responses can be viewed on 
the REACH website at https://www.reachnow.org.uk/ 

Feedback from the completed surveys and from other correspondence has been 
grouped into a series of themes, comprising: Access, Capacity, Diversity, 
Efficiency, Environment, Facilities, Interdependency, Integration, (with primary and 
community services), Patient Experience, Staff Experience, Quality, Resources, 
Transport and Workforce.

An overview of the quantitative FFTF survey responses are detailed below: 

Acute Medicine 

Preferred option: to develop a ‘centre of excellence’ for Acute Medicine (Acute 
Medical Take) at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital; 

 67.61% (Easy read: 72.09%) strongly supported or supported the 
proposal
 

 24.83% (Easy read: 18.6%) strongly opposed or opposed the 
proposal 

Page 5

https://www.reachnow.org.uk/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Emergency General Surgery 

Preferred option: to develop a ‘centre of excellence’ for Emergency General 
Surgery at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital;  

 68.31% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly supported or 
supported the proposal. Easy read survey respondents: 66.67% 
strongly supported or supported the proposal 

 23.44% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly opposed or 
opposed the proposal. Easy read survey respondents: 22.99% 
strongly supported or supported the proposal 

Planned Lower GI (colorectal) surgery 

Preferred option: to develop a ‘centre of excellence’ for Planned Lower GI 
(colorectal) general surgery at Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH) or 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH);  

 79.1% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly supported or 
supported the proposal. Easy read survey respondents: 72.84%) 
strongly supported or supported the proposal. 

 7.83% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly opposed or 
opposed the proposal. Easy Read survey respondents: 14.81% 
strongly opposed or opposed the proposal. 

Where should planned Lower GI (Colorectal) General Surgery take place?

 50.76% Fit for the Future survey respondents chose Cheltenham 
General Hospital (27.50% Easy Read respondents chose Cheltenham 
General Hospital). 

 20.27% Fit for the Future survey respondents chose Gloucestershire 
Royal Hospital. 27.50% Easy Read respondents chose 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital. 

 30.30% Fit for the Future survey respondents had no opinion. 45% 
Easy Read respondents had no opinion. 

Planned day case, Upper and Lower GI 

Preferred option: to develop a ‘centre of excellence’ for planned day case Upper 
and Lower GI (colorectal) surgery at Cheltenham General Hospital (CGH);  

 73.49% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly supported or 
supported the proposal. (Easy read respondents: 67.47% strongly 
supported or supported the proposal.
 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

 8.52% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly opposed or 
opposed the proposal. Easy read respondents: 13.25% strongly 
opposed or opposed the proposal. 

Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS) including Vascular Surgery 

Preferred option: to develop a 24/7 Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS) 
‘Hub’ at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital and a ‘Spoke' at Cheltenham General 
Hospital; 

 66.54% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly supported or 
supported the proposal. Easy read respondents: 76.54%) strongly 
supported or supported the proposal. 

 15.39% Fit for the Future survey respondents (Easy read: 9.88%) 
strongly opposed or opposed the proposal. Easy read respondents: 
9.88% strongly opposed or opposed the proposal. 

Vascular Surgery 

Preferred option: to develop a ‘centre of excellence’ for Vascular Surgery at 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital; 

 60.27% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly supported or 
supported the proposal. Easy read respondents: 68.35% strongly 
supported or supported the proposal. 

 19.97% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly opposed or 
opposed the proposal. Easy read respondents: 15.19% strongly 
opposed or opposed the proposal. 

Gastroenterology inpatient services 

Preferred option: to develop a ‘centre of excellence’ for Gastroenterology inpatient 
services at Cheltenham General Hospital;

 71.96% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly supported or 
supported the proposal. Easy read respondents: 68.35% strongly 
supported or supported the proposal. 

 6.67% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly opposed or 
opposed the proposal. Easy read respondents: 10.13% strongly 
opposed or opposed the proposal. 

Trauma and Orthopaedics (T&O) inpatient services 

Preferred option: Develop two permanent ‘centres of excellence’ for Trauma at 
Gloucestershire Royal Hospital and Orthopaedics at Cheltenham General Hospital
. 

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

 76.02% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly supported or 
supported the proposal 

 10.53% Fit for the Future survey respondents strongly opposed or 
opposed the proposal 

The easy read survey for this option was divided into two questions: - 

Trauma: Support: 70.51% Oppose: 12.82% Not sure: 16.67% 

Orthopaedics: Support: 73.08% Oppose: 14.10& Not sure: 12.82%

Observations from the survey concluded that:

• Proportionally more people from Cheltenham competed the survey
• More women than men completed the survey (55% / 39%)
• There was a good age range of respondents from the under 18 and over 75 

year groups
• Between a quarter and a third of the responses came from staff 
• Over 20% of the responses came from people who considered themselves 

to have a disability
• Over a quarter of the respondents were ‘unpaid’ carers
• 15% of respondents were not white British

Targeted consultation activities targeted people from Black, Asian and Minority 
Ethnic (BAME) communities; people living with long term conditions such as 
cardiovascular disease, obesity or diabetes; people living with a disability, (including 
physical impairments; learning disability; sensory impairment; and mental health 
conditions); people with long-term medical conditions; Adult Carers and Young 
Carers; Homeless people; Gypsy/Traveller Communities  and LGBTQ people.

Acknowledging the challenges of consulting during a pandemic and responding to 
concerns about the reliability of the data included in the output report, the 
committee was advised that, to pause the consultation at this time, was not an 
option. The investment in the work already undertaken during the previous 3 years 
was quite extensive and would need to be repeated, if the consultation was halted 
at this stage in the process.

Responding to questions, including the request that the consultation be paused to 
allow the NHS to concentrate on the coronavirus pandemic, it was suggested 
members, (having considered the output report in more detail), submit any further 
questions after the meeting. Members were reminded that at the committee 
meeting on 22 October 2020, there had been a full discussion on the timings of the 
consultations

Expressing their appreciation to everyone who had participated in the consultation, 
NHS professionals agreed that the responses to questions, (including any 
questions received after the meeting), would be included in an update to the 
committee on 2 March 2021. Action by – NHS CCG  

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

Chairman of the Committee, Cllr Brian Robinson, believed it was important to 
maintain the momentum and for the committee to support the consultation process, 
in spite of the pandemic. The majority of members agreed with this viewpoint and 
welcomed the news that some of the new methods of communication had been well 
received. 

The committee noted the next stages of the consultation, involving: - 

January 2021 – Citizens Jury Sessions (8 independent 2 hour sessions)
January 2021 – Refreshment of the Integrated Impact Assessment 
February 2021 – Confirmation of Recommended solution for General Surgery 
January/Feb 2021 – Consultation review period/implementation planning 
January/Feb 2021 – Decision Making Business Case Preparation
March 2021 – Final Decision making 
April 2021 onwards – Implementation (pending the outcome of decisions to 
implement change in March 2021)

The committee to receive a further update at the committee meeting on 2 March 
2021.

7. NEW FOREST OF DEAN COMMUNITY HOSPITAL CONSULTATION (OUTPUT 
PRESENTATION) 

The committee received an update from the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group on 
the NHS Gloucestershire Integrated Health and Care System (ICS) Consultation 
regarding the delivery of services proposed for the new community hospital in the 
Forest of Dean District. The consultation commenced on 22 October 2020, ending 
on 17 December 2020. 

Analysis of the responses to the consultation can be viewed in an Output of 
Consultation Report, published on the NHS website on 11 January 2021. The report 
can be viewed here

Based on the responses from previous stages of the consultation, it was confirmed 
that the new hospital would be located in Cinderford, replacing the Dilke Memorial 
Hospital and Lydney and District Community Hospital. 

Members were reminded that the purpose of this consultation had been to seek 
feedback on the following aspects: - 

i. Number of hospital beds required to meet the needs of the local population; 
ii. Outpatient services, including consultation, treatment and group rooms and 

additional areas for online consultations for the provision of outpatients 
services; 

iii. Urgent care facility; 
iv. Diagnostic services, including x-ray, ultrasound and blood-testing 

(phlebotomy); purpose-built endoscopy unit and space for mobile units, such 
as Chemotherapy Bus and Breast Screening Service; 

v. Parking for approximately 150 vehicles; agreement on the location of a bus 
stop, (on or adjacent to the site); 

Page 9

http://www.fodhealth.nhs.uk/


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

vi. Flexible meeting space for access by health and care organisations plus 
wider voluntary sector organisations 

Thanking everyone who had participated in the survey, Caroline Smith from the 
CCG informed the committee that there had been a good response to the 
consultation. From first analysis, there appeared to be a range of mixed views, 
particularly in respect of the proposals relating to inpatient care and urgent care for 
the South of the Forest. The consultation had followed a different timescale to the 
Fit for the Future Consultation, with no further plans for a Citizens Jury. (A Citizens 
Jury had been used during an earlier stage in the consultation process). 

It was confirmed that a ‘consultation review period’ would now take place. If 
supported by the NHS Clinical Commissioning Group’s Governing Body at its 
meeting on 28 January 2021, the proposals would be included in a service 
specification, for which the Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
would be required to produce a formal business case, setting out the design 
specification and financial plan for the new building, along with the arrangements 
for the operation of the new hospital going forward. Final approval of the proposals 
would be required from the Board of the Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust in March 2021. 

Responding to concerns about the replacement of the existing hospitals and the 
perceived loss of facilities in certain parts of the Forest, members were advised that 
the inadequacy of the ageing buildings and the need for modern, fit for purpose, 
facilities had  been accentuated during the Covid-19 pandemic emergency. Noting 
the concerns, including concerns raised by members of the public, the committee 
was advised that, all considerations would be considered in balance with recent 
learning and the need to provide improved facilities.

Referencing several questions submitted direct to the NHS CCG earlier that day, 
(from a member of the public), it was agreed that the CCG would provide written 
responses to the questions, (plus any other questions), after the meeting. 
Committee members were advised to submit further questions, (having considered 
the Interim Output of Consultation Report in more detail), to 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk after the meeting. Action by – GCCG

Responding to a suggestion that a workshop be set up to consider ongoing 
concerns about the provision of services to residents located in the South of the 
Forest, the CCG explained that there was no time to delay the progress of the work 
currently underway. Furthermore, it was essential, (in order to meet the challenges 
of responding to the Covid-19 pandemic), to maintain the momentum. People living 
in the South of the Forest were assured that their concerns would be considered 
during the forthcoming review of responses submitted during the recent 
consultation. 

Seeking the support of the committee, the Chairman, (along with the majority of 
members), noted the report and requested further updates before any final 
decisions were made regarding the South of the Forest.

Page 10

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

To note: Having since reviewed the feedback from the consultation and after 
careful consideration of developments in local healthcare and health needs for the 
area, the GCCG has now confirmed the range of services to be commissioned at 
the new Forest of Dean Community Hospital. In a formal announcement made at 
the end of January 2021, it was confirmed that that hospital would be run by the 
Gloucestershire Heath and Care NHS Foundation Trust, with services primarily 
provided by GHC staff, by healthcare professionals from the Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and by local GPs. The new hospital is anticipated 
to open in 2023.

8. GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP PERFORMANCE 
UPDATE 

The committee received an update on the performance of the NHS Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group, (GCCG), including notification that NHS CCG 
oversight assessments published in November 2020 had rated Gloucestershire 
CCG as ‘Good’ against NHS Constitutional and other agreed standards. 

With the exception of A&E and Ambulance Category 1 response times, 
performance against key standards continued to follow national trends. It was 
confirmed that there had been a significant decline in overall A&E performance 
nationally during the 12 month period to November 2020, (attributed to the recent 
surge in Covid-19 cases and in response to national lockdown measures).  Locally, 
4 hour performance targets remained a concern. Ongoing pressures in the 
availability of acute hospital bed spaces was making it increasingly challenging to 
meet the required standards.

Across all other standards, both the national and GCCG position showed general 
improvement. Members noted, however, that the impact of the second wave of 
COVID-19 was likely to have a negative impact on performance during December 
2020 and January 2021. 

With no significantly large increase in COVID-19 admissions evident during the 
initial months of the pandemic, this position had changed in recent months, with 
admissions rising steeply at the end of October 2020. Workload pressures 
continued throughout November and December, with notable repercussions from 
the impact of increased COVID-19 admissions and occupancy at Gloucestershire 
Royal Hospital. Current reports indicated continuation of this challenging situation, 
particularly in terms of bed occupancy and hospital flow. 

To relieve some of the pressures on hospital admissions, efforts had been made to 
treat some patients experiencing COVID-19 symptoms at home as part of the 
Home First programme and from the Virtual COVID-19 Ward. Both provisions took 
into account the risks to staff when looking after COVID-19 patients in non-hospital 
environments. COVID secure arrangements and regular monitoring to detect early 
signs of deterioration in patients receiving treatment at home were important 
considerations. The roll out of the COVID-19 vaccination to NHS staff, (reported in 
an update to the committee under item 10 of the agenda), was proving very 
successful.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

Earlier in the meeting, it had been reported that ambulance service activity in the 
Gloucestershire area had increased in the 12 month period between January and 
December 2020, (during the pandemic). Although activity had decreased slightly 
during the initial lockdown, there had been a significant increase in activity since 
December 2020, with notable increased pressure on ambulance service crews and 
in the frequency of handover delays. An update on SWAST service performance 
activity to be presented at the 13 July 2021 meeting.

Expanding on the extraordinary response by Gloucestershire ICS during the 
pandemic, NHS professionals commended the work and commitment of NHS staff. 
Dr Andy Seymour said it was a privilege to work with staff and colleagues in the 
fight against the virus. Supported by new and innovative pathways, it was hoped 
the performance of the Gloucestershire ICS would continue to hold strong during 
this challenging time. 

The committee commended the work of NHS staff and the support of care workers 
and volunteers in the local communities for the extraordinary being taken to protect 
the residents of Gloucestershire. 

Highlighting one of the more successful outcomes for Gloucestershire, it was 
reported that, whilst delivery of some cancer services had struggled nationally, 
Gloucestershire had continued to provide a good level of cancer care throughout 
the pandemic. Conducting remote consultations had been an important shift in 
maintaining cancer services. Another factor was to offer supported self-
management recovery programmes for those completing treatment. Acknowledging 
the impact of the pandemic on patients’ emotional wellbeing and mental health, it 
had been proposed that a new working group be established to consider ways of 
providing psychological care for cancer patients. 

The performance report was noted.

9. ONE GLOUCESTERSHIRE INTEGRATED CARE SYSTEM (ICS) LEAD REPORT 

The committee received an update on the work of the One Gloucestershire 
Integrated Care System (ICS) Partnership in its response to the Covid-19 
emergency. Partners included: NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group; Primary Care (GP) Providers; Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS 
Foundation Trust; Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust and South 
West Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust.  

Advising the committee that the partnership was taking a business as usual 
approach, it was reported that the challenges of increasing COVID-19 infection 
rates was placing extreme pressures on the work of the ICS and the delivery of 
NHS services locally. 

Focussing on the progress of the Gloucestershire vaccination roll out, members 
were informed that the initial stages of the roll out had been very positive. Primary 
Care Networks were involved in the delivery of the vaccine, with local GPs and 
community NHS teams administering vaccinations to priority groups from mid 
December. The programme was due to expand to include other priority groups later 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

in the month. The rate at which vaccinations were being administered across the 
county was anticipated to increase as additional vaccine supplies became 
available.
      
GP practice teams, NHS community services and volunteers were praised for the 
efficiency in which they had kick-started the programme in Gloucestershire. At the 
time of the meeting, a network of 10 community vaccination centres were in place, 
positioning Gloucestershire at the forefront of the community vaccination response 
and well placed to benefit from increased vaccine supplies.

The report was noted. 

10. GCCG CLINICAL CHAIR/ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER REPORT 

Mary Hutton, (representing GCCG and One Gloucestershire Integrated Care 
System), introduced the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG) Clinical Chair and Accountable Officer Report.

Expanding on the county’s response to the coronavirus pandemic, members were 
informed that the close partnership working arrangements that existed had, in the 
first wave of the crisis, responded well to the consistently high demands placed on 
the delivery of services from increasing COVID-19 infection rates. There were, 
however, real concerns that the demand for NHS services would increase 
significantly in January.

Updating members on the progress of the Gloucestershire COVID-19 vaccination 
programme, the CCG announced that anecdotal evidence reflected a very positive 
initial roll out for the county. Delivered via the Gloucestershire Hospital Foundation 
Trust (GHFT) and at 10 community based Primary Care Network sites, 25,000 
vaccinations had been administered by 31 December 2021. The majority of 
vaccinations had been administered to the 80 plus age group, in addition to health 
and social care workers and to staff and residents from over 49 Care Homes in 
Gloucestershire. 

Recent updates indicated that the roll out continued to be delivered at great pace, 
in spite of changes to delivery of the second dose of the vaccine.  Responding to 
concerns about the decision to defer delivery of the second dose to enable more 
people receive their first vaccination, the NHS CCG explained that the decision was 
supported by strong scientific evidence and on the advice of the Chief Medical 
Officer. It was confirmed that no more second doses would be administered in 
Gloucestershire at this present time. Administering vaccinations to the residents 
and staff at care homes was a priority.  

Enquiring whether supply issues might hinder the roll out of the vaccine in 
Gloucestershire, members were reassured that the county had good supplies. This 
could, however, start to level out over the next few weeks as other parts of the 
country began to step up the delivery of their programmes. 

Responding to questions, Deborah Lee, Chief Executive of the Gloucestershire 
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, outlined some of the limitations that restricted the 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

publication of data relating to the number of vaccinations being administered locally. 
She explained that the release of information locally was subject to national 
guidelines and government approval.

When asked if some NHS employees had refused the vaccination, the CCG 
confirmed that this had not been an issue in Gloucestershire and that only a small 
number of staff had been cautious about receiving the vaccination. This was 
primarily due to allergies and known reactions. 

The committee commended the speed and efficiency of the Gloucestershire 
vaccination programme and acknowledged the huge support that had been 
provided by the voluntary sector and from the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service. Noting the planned approach to administering the vaccine, members were 
informed that the vaccination would be cascaded to other priority groups as quickly 
as possible. This included people who were unable to leave their homes.  

The report was noted.

11. WORK PLAN 

In addition to the regular updates to the committee, it was suggested that the 
committee add the following items to the work plan for consideration at future 
meetings: - 

1. Contract Patient Transport – Update 
2. Phlebotomy Services in the South Cotswolds – Update 
3. SWAST – Presentation to the new Committee 
4. It was suggested that the committee consider a summary of the work of the 

committee under the current council with suggestions going forward for the 
new committee post the May 2021 local elections, and this was agreed. 

Updating the committee on the review of Gloucestershire County Council’s scrutiny 
arrangements introduced in 2019, members were informed that an email would be 
sent to the members of this and the other scrutiny committees, seeking their views 
on the scrutiny structure going forward. The review to seek the views of all county 
councillors, co-opted scrutiny members, district councils, GCC Corporate 
Leadership Team, plus representatives from partner organisations and other 
stakeholders.   

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 12.15 pm 

Page 14



Gloucestershire 

P
age 1

M
inute Item

 5

P
age 15



Workload 

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Average Number of Ambulance Incidents per Day 

P
age 2

P
age 16



Workload 

0.0%

10.0%

20.0%

30.0%

40.0%

50.0%

60.0%

70.0%

80.0%

Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Source of Ambulance Incidents 

Public HCP NHS 111

P
age 3

P
age 17



Response 

6.8  

6.4  
6.6  

7.3  7.3  
7.5  

7.3  7.3  
7.1  

6.9  

7.3  7.4  

6.7  

7.1  7.2  

5.0

5.5

6.0

6.5

7.0

7.5

8.0

Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Category 1 

26.1  
25.2  25.7  

24.1  

26.3  

29.7  

26.5  

28.4  
29.6  

25.3  

27.4  27.0  

17.8  
16.7  17.3  

12.0
13.0
14.0
15.0
16.0
17.0
18.0
19.0
20.0
21.0
22.0
23.0
24.0
25.0
26.0
27.0
28.0
29.0
30.0
31.0

Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Category 2 

P
age 4

P
age 18



Response 

55.5  
51.0  

54.5  51.8  
58.0  

66.6  

57.6  
63.3  

83.0  

60.1  59.3  

78.3  

31.8  29.1  31.8  

20.0
25.0
30.0
35.0
40.0
45.0
50.0
55.0
60.0
65.0
70.0
75.0
80.0
85.0
90.0

Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Category 3 

75.3  
71.5  

86.1  

72.9  
78.7  

83.8  

68.1  

95.2  
98.4  

79.7  

88.4  

112.9  

46.3  46.3  

58.4  

40.0

60.0

80.0

100.0

120.0

Oct-19 Nov-19 Dec-19 Jan-20 Feb-20 Mar-20 Apr-20 May-20 Jun-20 Jul-20 Aug-20 Sep-20 Oct-20 Nov-20 Dec-20

Category 4 

P
age 5

P
age 19



Outcomes 

Hear and 
Treat, 9.36% 

See and 
Treat, 37.72% 

See and 
Convey not to 

ED, 6.44% 

See and 
Covey to ED, 

46.49% 

44%

46%

48%

50%

52%

54%

% of Ambulance Incidents Resolved 
Without a Conveyance to an Emergency 

Department 

P
age 6

P
age 20



Conveyed Patient 

Performance 

Mobilisation 
YTD – Cat 1&2 Average. 

Cat 1 – 34 seconds. 

Journey to scene 
YTD – All calls average – 

Mobile to at scene. Cat 1 – 
7.28 mins  

Handover 
YTD – All calls average. 

Wrap Up 
YTD – All calls average. 

On Scene Time 
YTD – Conveyed Patient on 
scene time all calls average. 

44.5 
Secs 

12.41 
Mins 

43.24 
Mins 

16.18 
Mins 

19.34 
Mins 

P
age 7

P
age 21



Handover Pressure - GRH 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Average Number of Handovers per Day 

0.0

5.0

10.0

15.0

20.0

25.0

30.0

35.0

40.0

45.0

Time Lost to Handover Delays in Excess of 15 Minutes (Hours) 

P
age 8

P
age 22



Collaboration with GFRS 

P
age 9

P
age 23



Postcode Performance 

Review of Performance per GL Postcode. 
 

• Targeted CFR and staff responder recruitment 

• Review of estates and standby points 

• Developing a community engagement plan 

• Recognition of rural / urban barriers to performance.  

 

P
age 10

P
age 24



Gloucestershire CFRs 

Gloucestershire has 13 CFR lifting 

schemes in action. 

 
During an eight-week trial involving 17 groups across 

the South West waiting times for non-injury falls 

patients were cut by 12.5%. 

Of the incidents attended by a CFR 77% did not need 

support from a paramedic, saving 148 hours of frontline 

resource time. 

Targeted Recruitment 

 
Review of postcode performance has enabled 

an action plan to be developed to recruit to 

areas to increase performance, therefore 

improving patient experience. 

 

Increase in staff responders to provide local 

clinician support to improve intervention and 

clinical quality in a timely manner. 

Trust Volunteer Strategy  
 

We aspire to offer an additional 2,000 volunteering 

placements over the next five years, 1,000 in 

Community First Responder roles and 1,000 across 

the Public Engagement, Youth, Charity and other 

volunteering roles across the organisation.. 

P
age 11

P
age 25



People / Resources 

The right resource 

for the right patient 

in the right time to 

deliver the right 

care. 

P
age 12

P
age 26



CPR Community Education 
 

Engagement into our communities with partner 

agencies to prioritise local education of sudden cardiac 

arrest and the important of CPR. 

 

The basics save lives. 

P
age 13

P
age 27



COVID Response 

GLOS CCC 

P
age 14

P
age 28



Flu Vaccine 

P
age 15

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 30



1

Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)
2 March 2021

Phlebotomy Services

1. Primary Care bloods

In December 2019 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
decided to fund Primary Care to provide a local phlebotomy service for primary 
care generated bloods for their patients aged 12 years and over as part of the 
Primary Care Offer (PCO).  From July 2020 GP Practices across the county 
began to offer this service to their patients.  

2. Secondary Care bloods

In addition to undertaking primary care generated bloods, and if capacity allowed, 
GP Practices were also asked to provide secondary care generated bloods in 
order to avoid patients needing to travel to a hospital just to have a blood test. 

The pandemic has however reduced the number of patients that can be 
accommodated per clinic, given the additional time now needed for enhanced 
infection control processes.

The increasing use of virtual appointments within secondary care, in addition to 
perceived concerns around clinically vulnerable patients attending an acute 
hospital site purely for a blood test, has also led to significantly more secondary 
care patients wishing to access phlebotomy at their GP Practice instead.  Many 
practices continue to try and support all patients requiring phlebotomy but this is 
proving a challenge within current resources.  

Therefore in January 2021 the CCG agreed to offer additional funding to those 
GP practices providing local phlebotomy access to their patients requiring this as 
part of their secondary care pathway. It is intended that patients needing a 
secondary care initiated blood test will have the choice of whether to continue to 
attend the Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT) drop-in 
phlebotomy service at Cheltenham General or Gloucester Royal, the bookable 
service available at Cirencester Hospital or their local GP Practice (where 
available).

Page 31

Agenda Item 5



2

3. Cirencester Hospital

The Cirencester Hospital phlebotomy service continues to offer a bookable 
phlebotomy service for patients aged 16 years of age and over, that require 
phlebotomy at the request of a hospital based health care professional.  

This continues to be available to patients three days a week with a maximum wait 
time of approximately one week for routine bloods, with urgent appointments 
accommodated much sooner as required.  

Between the period of 9 December 2020 to 15 February 2021 this service 
provided 700 bookable appointments.  Of these 99.3% had blood taken 
successfully(the 0.7% who could not have blood taken required a specific blood 
test at a location nearer to the lab to allow immediate centrifuge), 2.5% Did Not 
Attend (DNA’d). There were 34 bookable appointments that were not utilised (5% 
of the available capacity) and a further 43 patients walked into the service without 
booking ahead (predominantly oncology patients), of which 35 (81%) were 
successfully accommodated.

The service was originally staffed temporarily by Gloucestershire Health and 
Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHCNHSFT) using an existing member of staff 
(Health Care Assistant) but this position has now been successfully recruited to 
on a substantive basis.  Once the recruitment process is fully complete the post-
holder will be trained to take blood from paediatric patients under the age of 16.  
As is the current practice across the county, patients aged 0-5 years of age will 
continue to have blood taken at the Paediatric Outpatient Dept. at 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHNHSFT)

Demand for the service is regularly reviewed by GHCNHSFT and should it be 
needed, capacity can be flexibly increased beyond the current three day a week 
service.

GHCNHSFT have not received any formal complaints about the service and 
instead have received many compliments from the patients using it.  In addition, 
between November 2020 and February 2021, GCCG have also not received any 
formal complaints relating to phlebotomy services. 

Page 32



 

1 
 

Briefing paper on Temporary Service Changes to support the Gloucestershire Health 

Services Response to COVID 19  

 

Document Control 

Author:  Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign  

Status: V 0.1  

 

Document Distribution: 

Forum/Audience Date Doc Comments 

    

    

    

    

 

  

Version Date Author/ 
Reviewer 

Comments 

0.1 18/02/2021 Ellen Rule V 0.1 first draft of document developed for 
review 

0.2 22/02/21  Simon Lanceley  Changes to GHFT proforma and minor change 
to paper text to reflect GHFT decision making 
process  

1 22/02/21 Ellen Rule  Final review and change of paper to PDF 
ready for issue to committee  

    

    

    

Page 33

Agenda Item 6



 

2 
 

Contents 
1. Purpose of the Document ........................................................................................................... 3 

2. Incident Response and Emergency Service Changes ........................................................... 4 

2.1 Phase One Incident Response ....................................................................................................... 4 

2.2 Rationale for temporary Service Changes: ............................................................................. 5 

3. Wider Context ................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.1 Temporary Service Changes and the Fit for the Future programme ............................................ 6 

4. Next Steps......................................................................................................................................... 6 

Annex 1: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation: 

Acute Service Changes to support service delivery in light of Covid-19 pandemic ................... 7 

Annex 2: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation:  

Minor Injury and Illness Units & Tewkesbury Theatre temporary closure - Emergency Service 

Change ................................................................................................................................................ 16 

Annex 3: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation:  

Stroke Rehabilitation at the Vale Hospital - Emergency Service Change ................................. 24 

 

 

  

Page 34



 

3 
 

1. Purpose of the Document 

This paper for the Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC) 

provides an update to the committee regarding a number of temporary substantial service 

variations that are required to meet our ongoing operational response to the COVID-19 

pandemic.  

The Gloucestershire Integrated Health and Care System (ICS) seeks further support from 

the committee for an extension to a number of operational changes that will enable the 

ongoing delivery of health services in an environment where Covid-19 continues to represent 

a considerable risk to population health and compromises the safe and productive delivery of 

health and care services.  

In line with the locally agreed Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) a pro-forma has been 

completed where operational changes are considered to represent significant service 

change. The following proformas are appended to this document to set out the proposals in 

more detail to enable the committee to apply ‘consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a 

proposed service variation’. The service changes presented in the MOU pro-formas attached 

to this paper are for the renewal of a number of emergency (temporary) service changes as 

previously shared during our incident response, namely: 

1. An extension of a further three months of the temporary reconfiguration of Emergency 

General Surgery to Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH) from Cheltenham General 

Hospital (CGH) (temporary change enacted on 1st April 2020, renewed in July  2020, 

with a further extension of 6 months from September 2020 – March 2021) 

 

2. An extension of a further three months for a series of temporary service changes across 

the GRH and CGH sites,  previously notified, and enacted on 9th June 2020, and 

renewed in September 2020 for a further 6 months, which includes: 

 CGH ED to MIIU, 7-days a week 8-8 

 All 999 and undifferentiated GP referrals centralised at GRH, including centralisation 

of the Acute Medical Take (a consequence of which, given the clinical nature of 

COVID-19, has resulted in more acute respiratory care moving to GRH since June). 

It should be noted that a significant number of patients whose care pathways which 

start with assessment or admission at GRH then transfer to inpatient beds at CGH 

 Acute Stroke Unit (ASU) moved to CGH (Hyper Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) remains at 

GRH) – and a linked supporting reallocation of beds at the Vale hospital to support 

additional capacity in stroke rehabilitation care (see below) 

 Emergency and elective (planned) Vascular move to GRH (although as part of our 

winter plan more elective vascular activity will be delivered from CGH) 

 Emergency Urology pathway to GRH, planned pathways remain at CGH 

 

3. A further three month extension of the temporary closure of the Dilke, Vale and 

Tewkesbury Minor Injuries Unit and reduced opening hours at Cirencester, Stroud and 

Lydney (temporary change enacted on 22nd March 2020, extended in June 2020 for a further 

three months, extended in September 2020 for 6 months), with the addition of the temporary 

closure of Tewkesbury theatre  

 

4. A further three month extension to the temporary reallocation of 6 general rehabilitation 

beds at the Vale hospital to provide additional capacity for Stroke rehabilitation, to support 

Page 35



 

4 
 

flow through the acute hospital stroke units (temporary change initially proposed for 6 

months in September 2020)  

These emergency service changes are proposed under regulation 23(2) of the s.244 

regulations due to a risk to safety or welfare of patients or staff (in this case the risk relates 

to the ongoing productivity impact of Covid-19 and the challenges presented in this context 

with managing the health and care system through Winter 2020/21). It is recognised that in 

these circumstances it may not be possible to undertake any public involvement or 

consultation with the Local Authority.  

Following the previous temporary service change proposals which have been in place we 

are intending to renew this arrangement for a further three months, from March 2021 – June 

2021. Please note, at the time of this committee meeting the temporary changes proposed 

for services at Gloucestershire Hospitals Trust have been approved at the Quality and 

Performance Committee on the 24th February but are still subject to full Trust Board approval 

at the meeting to be held on the 11th March. Given the exceptional performance of 

Gloucestershire on the vaccination programme we feel a degree of confidence that this 

further period of three months will be sufficient, with many of these temporary changes being 

able to be reversed from July 2021.  

Key Points  

 Gloucestershire Health and Care organisations work together as an Integrated 

Care System, known as an ICS 

 The ICS has delivered a joined up incident response to COVID-19 

 This paper asks the committee to provide their support to extend a series of 

temporary emergency service changes for a further three months from March – 

June 2021.   

 Subject to pandemic conditions permitting, there is considerable confidence that 

these changes can be reversed at the end of this period (supported by our 

exceptional delivery on the vaccine programme) 

2. Incident Response and Emergency Service Changes 

On the 30th January 2020 COVID -19 was declared as a level 4 national incident by the 

NHS. By the 11th March 2020 COVID -19 had been declared as a pandemic by the World 

Health Organisation. The NHS and Social Care in Gloucestershire has delivered a 

comprehensive incident response, working together as an Integrated Care System (ICS) 

both supporting the needs of the local population and the welfare of our staff. We have been 

overwhelmed with the generosity and offers of support from the local community, including 

from local businesses, voluntary sector organisations and individuals. 

2.1 Phase One Incident Response  

To support our initial incident response (phase one) it was necessary to radically reprioritise 

and reshape our services. This has included, but is not limited to: 

• Extensive re-prioritisation of services to support management of COVID-19 patients 

Page 36



 

5 
 

• Wide range of service delivery moved to virtual channels, such as delivery of digital 

consultations at scale across secondary, primary and community care  

• Direct delivery of input and support to care homes (redeployed staff) including delivery of 

Personal Protective Equipment (PPE)  training  

• Changes to MIIUs – The Vale, Dilke & Tewksbury closed from 22nd March 2020 (notified 

as emergency (temporary) service change to HOSC  

• Emergency General Surgery centralised to Gloucestershire Royal Hospital on 1st April 

2020. HOSC members were notified of this potential emergency (temporary) service 

change on 26th March 2020  

A three month extension, supported by risk assessments, for the two emergency temporary 

services changes enacted in phase 1 was requested in June with a 6 month extension 

proposed in September 2020. A further three month extension for all of the changes 

currently in place is now requested from March 2021 to June 2021.   

2.2 Rationale for temporary Service Changes: 

The rationale for the changes is to support our ongoing response and recovery as follows:  

• To limit the risk of transmission of the virus to patients and staff during the next phase of 

the pandemic, 

• To enable restoration of many of the services paused in response to the pandemic, 

increasing the volume of cancer surgery, planned care and specialist diagnostic activity, 

especially to those patients who are most vulnerable – utilising the Cheltenham site as a 

principally planned care environment  

• To give confidence to our local population that both our hospitals are safe places to visit 

• To ensure that the available workforce is aligned to activity and requirement for COVID 

secure service models  

Key Points  

 The incident response has involved a significant reshaping of health and care 

services in our county. There are several phases of the incident response. 

Temporary service changes were enacted during Phase One and Phase Two. 

 This paper proposes that the changes are now extended for a further period of 

three months from March – June 2021. 

 The pro-formas contain the detailed risk assessment associated with these 

changes and are attached to this document as Appendices  

 

  

Page 37



 

6 
 

3. Wider Context  

3.1 Temporary Service Changes and the Fit for the Future programme  

As outlined in detail in our paper to the committee in September there is some overlap 

between the emergency service changes that have had to be enacted to support our incident 

and recovery responses to COVID-19 and our well-developed Fit for the Future proposals 

which have now been out to public consultation (concluding in December). We would 

reiterate that whilst the proposals have some areas in common, they are not the same. Our 

longer term proposals are based on a ‘normal’ level of demand not the significantly reduced 

level demand we have seen during the pandemic period.  

Key Points  

 Service changes implemented to date are temporary and are to help us manage the 

impact of COVID-19 safely here and now.  

 Fit for the Future remains the mechanism for agreeing permanent service change. It is 

modelled based on ‘normal’ demand rather than COVID 19 demand, so is focussed on 

the medium to long term and not short-term response to a crisis 

 There is some overlap between the emergency service changes enacted as part of our 

covid response and the emerging proposals in fit for the future, but the proposals are not 

the same  

 

4. Next Steps  

This paper sets out the proposal to extend a number of temporary service changes already 

in place for a further 3 months. A number of emergency service change pro-formas are 

attached to this paper that set out the details and associated risk assessments.  We are 

aware that there is the potential for some conflation between the COVID-19 emergency 

service changes and the Fit for the Future programme given that the two have some 

common ground.  

In particular it should be noted that our commitment to the retention of a Type 1 A&E 8am to 

8pm in Cheltenham is not affected by our ongoing short term measure to repurpose it as an 

MIIU. This is a short term emergency measure introduced to ensure we can safely manage 

our hospital sites in the context of the COVID-19 incident response.  

Key Points  

 The impact of COVID-19 presents a significant operational challenge for health and care 

services  

 Fit for the Future remains the mechanism for agreeing permanent service change. The 

temporary service change proposals are not the same and are designed to support 

operational delivery in the ongoing context of the operational challenges presented by 

the Covid-19 pandemic  

 Our commitment to the retention of a Type 1 A&E 8am to 8pm in Cheltenham is not 

affected by the short term emergency changes proposed.   

 

Page 38



 

7 
 

Annex 1: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service 

variation: Acute Service Changes to support service delivery in light of Covid-19 

pandemic 

 

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation 

 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHFT) 
 

Lead Manager and contact details 

 
Ellen Rule, Director of Transformation and Service Redesign 
E.Rule@nhs.net  
t. 0300 421 1432 
 
Simon Lanceley, Director of Strategy & Transformation 
Simon.Lanceley@nhs.net  
t. 0300 422 4735 
 

Details of the current service 

Emergency General Surgery was centralised to Gloucestershire Royal Hospital on 1st April 

2020, as a temporary (emergency) service change under the remit of this Memorandum of 

Understanding (MoU), as part of GHFT’s Phase 1 response to the COVID-19 Pandemic. 

This change was extended for a further 3 months following the meeting of HOSC on 14th 

July 2020 and extended to 31st March 2021 following the meeting of HOSC on 22nd 

October 2020.  

Prior to 1st April, Emergency General Surgery was provided at both Cheltenham General 

Hospital (CGH) and Gloucestershire Royal Hospital (GRH). 

As part of GHFTs Phase 2 response to the COVID 19 Pandemic, on 9th June 2020 the 

following temporary service changes were implemented across GRH and CGH:  

 Emergency Department (ED) at CGH changed to a Minor Injury & Illness Unit (MIIU), 

7-days a week 8am to 8pm 

 All 999 and undifferentiated (non-diagnosed) GP referrals centralised to GRH - 

centralisation of the Acute Medical Take including Respiratory 

 Acute Stroke Unit (ASU) moved to CGH (Hyper Acute Stroke Unit (HASU) remained 

at GRH)  

 Emergency and elective Vascular surgery moved to GRH 

 Emergency Urology pathway moved to GRH, planned pathways remained at CGH 

Prior to 9th June 2020: 

 The ED at CGH operated at as an ED from 8am to 8pm and an MIIU from 8pm to 

8am, 7 –days a week 

 999 and undifferentiated GP referrals were routed to either GRH or CGH, depending 

on the location of the acute specialty the patient required. 

 The Acute Medical Take was provided at both GRH and CGH 

 The Acute Stroke Unit (ASU) was provided at GRH only  

 Emergency and elective Vascular service was provided at CGH only 

Page 39

mailto:E.Rule@nhs.net
mailto:Simon.Lanceley@nhs.net


 

8 
 

 Emergency Urology pathway was provided at both GRH and CGH. 

These temporary changes were extended to 31st March 2021 following the meeting of 
HOSC on 22nd October 2020. 

As part of GHFTs Phase 3 response to the COVID 19 Pandemic, during December 2020 

and January 2021, during the peak of the 2nd wave of the Pandemic the following temporary 

service changes were implemented across GRH and CGH:  

 Medical Day Unit moved from GRH to CGH 

 Neurology inpatient service moved from GRH to CGH 

 Aveta Birthing Centre (Midwife led unit) moved from CGH to GRH (or expectant 

mothers were offered a home birth or delivery at Stroud Maternity Unit, subject to 

appropriate risk assessment). 

Prior to December 2020: 

 Medical Day Unit was provided at GRH only 

 Neurology inpatient services were provided at GRH 

 Midwife led care was provided at, CGH, GRH and Stroud. 

Details of the proposed change to service 

The proposal is to extend the Phase 1, 2 and 3 temporary service changes to the end of 
June 2021, with the exception of the Cheltenham Aveta Birthing Unit that will revert to its 
pre-Covid state in week commencing 8th March 2021. 

Timescales involved 
 

1. COVID-19 declared a Level 4 National Incident by NHS – January 2020 

2. COVID-19 declared a Pandemic by World Health Organisation (WHO) – March 2020 

3. GHFT Phase 1 temporary changes implemented - April 2020 

4. GHFT Phase 2 temporary changes implemented - June 2020 

5. GHFT Phase 1 changes extended for further 3-months – July 2020 

6. COVID-19 NHS National incident level reduced from Level 4 to Level 3 – August 
2020 

7. GHFT Phase 1 & 2 temporary changes extended to March 2021 as part of ICS 
Winter Plan – October 2020 

8. COVID-19 NHS National incident level increased from Level 3 to Level 4 – November 
2020. 

 

What is the reason for the proposed service change? 
(What is the case for change?) 

Aveta Midwife-led Birthing Centre will be reinstated at Cheltenham in week commencing 8th 
March. 

The remaining Phase 1, 2 and 3 temporary service changes will be extended for a further 3-
months to the end of June 2021. 

We are hopefully now managing the tail of this global pandemic but there is still uncertainty 
on the impact the vaccination programme will have on community transmission and infection 
rates once the artificial suppression of lockdown has been removed. 

Infection Prevention and Control monitoring during the pandemic has shown the greatest risk 
to nosocomial (in hospital) transmission is the mixing of Covid and non-Covid pathways. 
Point of Care testing in Emergency Departments can help to reduce this but it does not 
eliminate it. 

Page 40



 

9 
 

The temporary changes have enabled us to minimise the mixing of these pathways and we 
need to see evidence that community infection rates will continue to reduce and be 
maintained at a low level before we can have confidence that reversing the temporary 
changes would not expose patients and staff to intolerable risk – i.e increased nosocomial 
(in hospital) transmission leading to increased patient infection and reduced staff availability 
impacting on service delivery. 

Significant operational planning will be required to plan and implement the phased reversal 
of the temporary changes and as an ICS system we are mindful of the urgent need to give 
NHS and Social Care colleagues time to rest & recover from the first 2 phases of the 
pandemic. 

 
The objectives of the service changes remain: 

• To limit the risk of transmission of the virus to patients and staff  

• To enable planned care and cancer diagnosis and treatment to continue, especially 
to those patients who are most vulnerable,  

• To give confidence to our local population that both our hospitals are safe places to 
visit 

• To ensure NHS colleagues are supported to continue providing care throughout 
this pandemic and to minimise the impact of Covid-19 related staff absence on 
service delivery. 

The key principles used to inform the design of these  temporary service changes are: 

• To continuing to separate COVID and non-COVID pathways by site and by 
pathway to reduce risk of COVID transmission to and between patients and staff. 

• To use our two hospital sites to achieve this by making Cheltenham General the 
focus for elective operating, cancer care & non-COVID diagnostic imaging and 
Gloucestershire Royal as the ‘front door’ for acute emergency medical and 
emergency surgical pathways.  

• To centralise our key points of entry including the Emergency Department, acute 
medical take and emergency general surgery so we can better control flow in to our 
hospitals and separate pathways for confirmed COVID patients, suspected COVID 
patients and non-COVID patients. 

• To designate the Intensive Care Unit (ICU) at Cheltenham General as a non-
COVID unit - a key dependency for increasing cancer and planned care operating  

• To develop a recovery model that promotes public confidence in our services to 
ensure that the public recognises that both our hospitals are safe places to come to 
receive acute hospital services. 

 

Patient benefits: 

To monitor if the objectives of the temporary changes are being achieved, a number of 
measures are being tracked in relation to: 

 Transmission Risk  

 Service Restoration  

 Public Confidence 
Monthly performance in these three areas is shown in the table below up to end January 
2021. The Baseline period is March to May 2020, wave 1 of the pandemic, so the impact of 
the temporary changes can be compared to a ‘do nothing’ option.  

Table. Impact of temporary changes 

Objective Metric Baseline 
monthly 

Jun Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan-21 

Page 41



 

10 
 

average -  

Mar to 
May 20 

Transmission 
Risk 

Nosocomial 
Transmission  
(14-day) 

16 1 1 1 0 0 59 71 30 

Service 
Restoration 

IP & DC cancer & 
planned care 

2,996 3,301 4,268 4,000 5,376 5,652 5,327 4,646 3,628 

OP cancer & 
planned care 

41,949 49,011 54,092 48,494 61,657 64,640 64,782 58,000 54,992 

2 week referrals 1,452 2,258 2,603 2,192 2,022 2,463 2,351 2,237 1,873 

Public 
Confidence 

OP cancellations – 
Covid-19 

18.3% 5.2% 2.4% 1.3% 0.9% 1% 1.4% 1.7% 4.3% 

Planned care 
cancellations – 
Covid-19 

26.3% 3.2% 1.1% 0.3% 0.7% 1.3% 7.3% 12.5% 16.3% 

Key: 

Nosocomial: in-hospital       IP: Inpatient       DC: Day case        OP: Outpatient 

Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date? 
With the public/ service user: 

Stakeholders have been involved and updated on the introduction of any new changes or 
the extension of existing changes, including: 

 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 

 Gloucestershire Health & Care 

 Gloucestershire County Council 

 South West Ambulance Service (SWAST) 

 Members of Parliament for Gloucestershire 

 Health Overview & Scrutiny Committee 

 Restore Emergency At Cheltenham Hospital (REACH) 

 Cheltenham Borough Council 

 Neighbouring Acute Trusts and CCGs 

 
1.1. Public Engagement  

 
Information about the temporary changes was shared with the Trust’s VCS (Voluntary & 
Community Sector) Involvement Network, asking that this information be cascaded 
through their networks.  Network members were encouraged to contact us if there were 
any questions about the temporary measures or if there was any feedback, positive or 
negative from patients, carers or families regarding the impact.   

 

Our Network now includes over 20 organisations in Gloucestershire who have agreed to 
connect with us more closely.   

Listed below are some of the VCS organisations who are members:- 

 Healthwatch Gloucestershire 

 Gloucestershire Carers Hub 

 Inclusion Gloucestershire 

 The Friendship Café 

 Age UK Gloucestershire 

Page 42



 

11 
 

 The Sight Loss Council 

 Kingfisher Treasureseekers 

Inclusion Gloucestershire developed an easy read leaflet detailing the temporary 
measures to ensure that this change was communicated in an accessible way, which was 
also shared with the Trust’s VCS Involvement Network.  In response to the sharing of this 
information we heard the ways in which the Trust’s temporary changes were cascaded, 
some examples of which are set out below:- 

The Nelson Trust, which supports people who have experienced addiction and the 
multiple and complex needs that come with it and women in the community who are in 
contact with the criminal justice system shared the information with their staff and the 
vulnerable people that they work with.   

Gloucestershire Carers Hub advised that the easy read leaflet was shared with carers 
through their weekly communications channel. 

The easy read leaflet was shared with members of The Collaborative Board, set up in 
response to COVID-19, which brings together the co-chairs of Gloucestershire’s 5 
Partnership Boards (autism, carers, learning disability, mental health; and physical and 
sensory impairments) as well as statutory leads and local voluntary organisations, as a 
working collaboration to effect positive change. 
 
Gloucestershire Hospitals Networking Group shared the easy read leaflet with its’ 
member organisations.  This group aims to support the non-statutory services based within 
the acute hospitals.  The aim of the group is to create a collective awareness of respective 
services and a network of ambassadors better able to refer patient and clients to appropriate 
services where needed. Services currently represented include: 
 
Age UK Gloucestershire, British Red Cross, Carers Hub, MacMillan, Care Navigators, Re-
Connect, Therapies, Onward Care Team, RNIB (Eye Clinic Liaison officers), PALS, 
GHNHSFT Volunteers, FAS/AMU Therapy team, GHNHSFT Admiral Nurse, CCP, 
GHNHSFT Patient and Public Involvement manager. 
 
Include details of Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee involvement: 

 HOSC has been regularly updated on the development of temporary service changes. 

 Extensions to Phase 1 and Phase 2 changes were agreed at the meeting of HOSC in 
July 2020 and October 2020. 
 

NHSE/NHSI/ Clinical Senate: 
The changes were informed by direction set by South West Regional NHS Team and NHS 
England, namely: 

 Recovery programmes at institution level should complement system strategy and 
the longer term vision 

 A much greater separation between urgent and elective work by site and pathway 

 A way of operationalising segregation between COVID and non COVID 

 Virtual by default unless good reasons not to 

 Triage/single points of access/resources and control at the front end of pathways 

 Guidance provided in Operating framework for urgent and planned services in 
hospital settings during COVID-19, NHS England, May 2020. 

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this 

 
Changes in 

A Quality Impact Assessment (QIA) has been completed 
and is summarised below: 

Page 43



 

12 
 

accessibility 
 
(i.e. transport issues/ 
opening hours etc) 
 
 
 

 
Theme Description 

Patient/st
aff safety 

Greater ability to separate COVID and non 
COVID patients, minimising risk of cross 
infection and the ability to separate high acuity 
from less complex patients and deliver 
appropriate care to meet their needs. 
Consolidating the workforce to reduce the need 
for temporary staff.  Improving waiting times. 
Consolidation of out of hours imaging working 
at GRH, reducing risk of lone working in CGH 
from 10 pm to 8 am 

Clinical 
effectiven
ess 

Reducing clinical variation, through 
standardisation of pathways and sharing best 
practice.  Through staff rotation across sites, 
provide the opportunity for increased skills in 
treating the full spectrum of patient needs. 
Complex outpatient imaging separated from 
acute and inpatient activity. 

Care 

Greater ability to co-ordinate care for COVID 
and non-COVID patients and to deliver elective, 
diagnostic and therapeutic  activity safely on the 
non-COVID site- screening prior to admission 

Responsi
veness 

Providing the ability to re-start elective surgery, 
including less urgent classification of patients 
for diagnostic and therapeutic activity in a non-
COVID environment.  These changes will 
increase equity in experience (with similar 
pathways) and ring-fence planned surgery and 
outpatient imaging from urgent care pressures,  
leading to fewer cancellations and reducing 
waiting times 

 

 
Patients/ carers 
affected 
 
(demographic 
assumptions that have 
been made) 

The following demographic information was used to inform the 
proposals: 
Equality/Inequalities 

Deprivation 

 13 areas of Gloucestershire are in the most 10% deprived nationally. 

 There are 9 areas of Gloucestershire in the most 10% deprived nationally for 
Employment Deprivation 

 There are links between deprivation and increased access to urgent and emergency 
care and lower levels of access to planned care. 

 People who are most likely to have never used the internet are mainly located in the 
Forest of Dean and Gloucester. 

Age 

 Compared with the national picture Gloucestershire has a faster growing population of 
people aged 65 and over. 

 71% of single pensioner households are headed by women. 

Disability:  physical and mental including learning disabilities and dementia) 

 A quarter of the households in the county have at least one person with a long-term 
limiting health problem or disability.  

 People with a learning disability have poorer health outcomes and are three times 
more likely to have a death classified as potentially avoidable through the provision of 
good quality healthcare than the general population.  

 Incidents of Dementia increase with age. Given the county’s aging population the 

Page 44



 

13 
 

number of dementia suffers will increase in the future.  

 There is low usage of the internet by disabled people over 75. 

Race/Ethnicity 

 People from Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups are more likely to experience 
inequalities in several areas including health access 

 A higher percentage of BAME people have a long term health problem/disability when 
compared with white British people.  

 People of Gypsy or Traveller origin are more likely to be in poor health than other 
ethnic groups 

Gender and gender identity 

 Transgender people are more likely to report mental health conditions and to attempt 
suicide than the general population. 

 Transgender people encounter significant difficulties in accessing and using health 
and social services. 

 Numbers of people identifying as transgender across the county is increasing.  

Pregnancy  

 Gloucester and the Forest of Dean have a higher proportion of births to mothers 

aged under 20 than Gloucestershire and England. 

 Cheltenham, Cotswold and Stroud have a higher proportion of births to mothers 

aged 35+ than Gloucestershire and England. 

Sexual orientation 

 People who are lesbian, gay or bisexual (LGB) are more likely to have experienced 
depression or anxiety, attempted suicide or had suicidal thoughts and self-harmed 
than men and women in general.  

 LGB people who are over 55 are more likely than heterosexual people over 55 to live 
alone and are more likely than heterosexual people to say that they expect to rely on 
health and social care providers as they get older. 

 

 
Changes in methods 
of delivery  
 
(venue / practitioner) 

 Emergency General Surgery will remain at GRH 

 Emergency Department at CGH will continue as a 

Nurse-led Minor Injury & Illness Unit (MIIU), 7-days a 

week 8am to 8pm 

 All 999 and undifferentiated (non-diagnosed) GP 

referrals will continue to flow to GRH, including 

centralisation of the Acute Medical Take and 

Respiratory. 

 Acute Stroke Unit (ASU) will remain at CGH 

 Emergency and elective (planned) Vascular will remain 

at GRH, but more elective activity will be delivered at 

CGH 

 Emergency Urology pathway will remain at GRH 

 Medical Day Unit will remain at CGH 

 Neurology inpatients will remain at CGH 

 
Impact upon other 
service delivery 
 

 
Standard Operating Procedures have been implemented where 
required to maintain referral and support links with other clinical 
services. 

 
Wider implications 
 
(consider effects on 

 
 
n/a 

Page 45



 

14 
 

community safety/ local 
economy etc) 
 

 
Equality/ Inequality 
issues 
 
(how will it help achieve 
health improvement 
goals and reduce 
inequalities?) 
 

An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed for 
these proposals and is summarised below: 
Potential Positive Impacts 

• Patients that have been waiting to access cancer or 
planned care treatment. 

• Reduce anxiety of attending a hospital site to access 
acute care services for risk of being exposed to COVDI-
19. 

• Provides non-COVID (Green) imaging and non-COVID 
critical care at CGH which is crucial to recovering 
cancer and elective care operating and recommencing 
of diagnostic investigations of “vulnerable” patients. 

• Restores beds currently closed at Cheltenham General 
as part of our phase 1 response, supporting patient flow. 

• Enables rapid COVID diagnostics through Point Of Care 
Testing at GRH emergency front door. 

• Centralising the acute medical take enhances patient 
safety, improves outcomes and reduces the length of 
stay as it allows more patients to be seen by a senior 
reviewer more quickly, which is associated with 
increased patient discharges and improved clinical 
outcomes.  67% of admissions to acute medicine last 
year were for over 65s, meaning this cohort is 
significantly impacted by this temporary change and its 
benefits. 

• 25% of Gloucester City’s population are living in 
deprived areas, approx. 32,000 people.  Therefore 
centralising acute medicine to GRH provides improved 
access to the right specialists to manage the care of this 
higher risk community.   

 
Potential Negative Impacts 

• Patients who rely on public transport may need further 
support to access services in the new location if their 
journey becomes longer. 

• 16.7% of Gloucestershire residents report having a long 
term limiting health problem or disability.  People with a 
disability or suffering from long term conditions are more 
likely to require urgent care.  Centralising 999 and GP 
referrals and the acute medical take to GRH will mean 
that some patients will have to travel further if GRH is 
not their local hospital. 

Recommendations Based on EIA 
• It is recommended that further engagement is carried 

out to ensure that the information regarding the 
temporary service changes is clear and that there is 
ongoing feedback during the period of implementation, 
including:      

• Developing easy read materials to promote the 
changes to people with learning disabilities or 
where English isn’t their first language. 

Page 46



 

15 
 

• Continued working with voluntary and 
community sector groups to understand the 
impacts of the changes and how changes can be 
communicated. 

• Continued use of Friends and Family Test to 
assess impact.  

• Use of the CCG Virtual Engagement Platform to 
engage with more patients and stakeholder 
groups. 

 
Name of person 
completing this pro-
forma 
 

 
Simon Lanceley, Director of Strategy & Transformation, 
GHFT 

Date proforma 
completed 
 

10th February 2021 

Outcome  
(HOSC Comments) 

 
 
 

 
 
  

Page 47



 

16 
 

Annex 2: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service 

variation:  Minor Injury and Illness Units & Tewkesbury Theatre temporary closure - 

Emergency Service Change 

 

Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation 

Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 

Lead Manager and contact details 

Kathy Cambell Kathy.Cambell@ghc.nhs.uk 
Service Director – Urgent Care  

Details of the current service 

The county wide Minor Injury & Illness Units (MIIU) were reviewed as an Emergency (temporary) 
Service Change under the remit of this Memorandum of Understanding (MoU), on 1st April 2020, as 
part of GHC’s response to the first phase of the COVID-19 Pandemic and again in September 
2020. 

The MIIU service normally operate at the below sites, with the following hours: 
Dilke Hospital: 8am – 11pm 
Lydney Hospital: 8am – 11pm 
Tewkesbury Hospital: 8am - 8pm 
North Cotswold Hospital: 8am-8pm 
Cirencester Hospital: 8am – 11pm 
Stroud Hospital: 8am – 11pm 
Vale Hospital: 8am - 8pm 
 
We implemented a number of changes from the 1st April 2020 to 1st September 2020 to deal with 
phase 1 of the pandemic and were then able to open the majority of sites (with the exception of the 
Dilke) for restricted hours thereafter.  Due to other COVID pressures, HOSC has been kept 
informed of changes as they have occurred which have particularly related to the Vale Unit closing 
from December 2020 to enable the Mass Vaccination hub to be established and the Tewkesbury 
unit closing from January 2021 to allow staff to be redeployed to support wider system pressures.  
In November 2020, the theatre unit in Tewkesbury was also closed to allow for system wide support 
to inpatient services. 
 
Current operation hours are as follows; 
Dilke Hospital: closed 
Lydney Hospital: 8am – 6pm 
Tewkesbury Hospital: closed 
North Cotswold Hospital: 8am-6pm 
Cirencester Hospital: 8am – 6pm 
Stroud Hospital: 8am – 6pm 
Vale Hospital: closed  
 
Minor Theatre activity current takes place in two community hospitals – Tewkesbury and 
Cirencester.  The activity is delivered by Gloucester Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust with support 
from GHC staff.   
 

Details of the proposed change to service 

GHC have considered the current ongoing implications of the pandemic, and this paper seeks 
permission to take forward the following service changes to 30th June 2021.  This includes an 
overview of the developments already in place, the benefits and risk to the service users, urgent 
care system and operational delivery across GHC and outlines a phased approach to our recovery. 
 

 MIIU Telephone triage and improved telephony technology means any patients calling any 

Page 48

mailto:Kathy.Cambell@ghc.nhs.uk


 

17 
 

unit during core hours can be booked into an appointment or redirected to the most 
appropriate HCP reducing unnecessary attendance and improving patient pathways. This 
offer is not affected by units that are currently closed. 

 New ED streaming offer that was launched on 1st February where ED streaming nurses can 
direct appropriate patients to a booked appointment at one of the MIIUs to reduce pressure 
on the acute hospital and to manage demand across both providers 

 MIIU offer direct booking to NHS 111 but also for GHC services such as Intravenous 
Therapy Team and local District Nursing Teams who have mobile patients who can be 
offered booked appointments to enable other services to manage extremis.  This forms part 
of the Second Surge and Covid Recovery plans 

 
Current demand remains low and therefore the units are operating under capacity.  A RAG 
rated risk has been applied to each site in terms of the proposed ongoing changes 
 
Ph 1 April – June 2021.   

Unit Proposal Benefit Risk Rating if proposed 
amendments continued 

Dilke Remain 
closed   

Reduces Covid risks  
Patients have an alternative within 
a few miles 
Consolidates the X-Ray offer at one 
site  

None noted while demand is 
low and managed by Lydney 
Decisions not linked to over 
the border MIU closures in 
Wales 

Vale Remain 
closed 

Allows Covid Mass Vaccs to 
continue/complete 
Stroud MIIU within a few miles  

Out of area patients may be 
affected 
 

Tewkesbury Open April 
1st 
08.00 – 
20.00 
(Usual hours 
of opening) 

Reduces risk of patients attending 
acute site 
Opens direct booking for ED 
Streaming 
Booked appointments for IV 
therapy patients at 5 sites 
Booked appointments for mobile 
DN patients who can travel  
 

Requires redeployed staff 
(who are supporting Rapid 
Response new Winter Plan) 
to return to MIIU which will 
affect the ability of Rapid to 
deliver 
  
  

N Cots  08.00 - 20.00 
 

Usual hours of opening 
 
Reduces risk of patients attending 
acute site 
Opens direct booking for ED 
Streaming 
Booked appointments for IV 
therapy patients at 5 sites 
Booked appointments for mobile 
DN patients who can travel  
 

none 

Lydney 08.00 – 
20.00 

Reduces risk of patients attending 
acute site 
Opens direct booking for ED 
Streaming 
Booked appointments for IV 
therapy patients at 5 sites 
Booked appointments for mobile 
DN patients who can travel  
Offers resilient staffing to ensure 

Reduce opening time by 3 
hrs affecting circa 6 pt /week   

Page 49



 

18 
 

the unit delivers consistently 
Reduces closure due to staffing  
Does not rely on Bank or Agency 
staff who are currently used in 
other areas of covid 
delivery/recovery/mass vacc   

Cirencester 08.00 – 
20.00 

Reduces risk of patients attending 
acute site 
Opens direct booking for ED 
Streaming 
Booked appointments for IV 
therapy patients at 5 sites 
Booked appointments for mobile 
DN patients who can travel  
 

Reduce opening time by 3 
hrs affecting circa 6 pt/week 

Stroud  08.00 – 
20.00 

Reduces risk of patients attending 
acute site 
Opens direct booking for ED 
Streaming 
Booked appointments for IV 
therapy patients at 5 sites 
Booked appointments for mobile 
DN patients who can travel  
 
Increase staffing from Vale to 
support covid staffing pressure  
 

Reduce opening time by 3 
hrs affecting circa 6 pt/week 
 

NB.  Changes in demand due to easing of lockdown and return to usual activity will inform us when 
to move to Phase 2 at the end of June or delay until the end of September depending on local and 
national covid recovery.  This will be measured by: 

 Increase in closure reports due to demand 

 Increase in Incident reports related to Covid Secure issues 

 Increase in daily activity data reports 

 Increase in the booked appointment 
 

There remain a number of ongoing risks to us being able to move back to all 6 units being 
fully open:  

 Increase in closures due to staffing challenges rather than demand.  This may be less 
apparent in Lydney where staff have moved to one unit improving resilience.  

 Continuation of Telephone Triage relies on an internal resource from the MIIU current senior 
workforce; if we are to continue to offer this a discussion with commissioners will be 
required, but while covid remains a risk to staff this should be a considered a priority to 
provide therefore indicates a RED RAG rating in the 2 large units 

 Extending the opening the 3 large units from 2000hrs to 23.00hr will present a cost pressure 
for GHC  

 
Due to the design and size of the Dilke MIIU we are unable to open the unit at this time, as it has 
limited options for social distancing and effective streaming of Covid/ non-Covid patients. We do not 
see that this situation will change whilst there is a national requirement for social distancing 
measures. 
 
The MIIUs have had an on the day bookable offer, accessed via NHS 111 for some time. As part of 
our response to Covid, and in line with the national ‘Think First’ strategy, we are building on this 
offer to enable us to manage the flow of patients arriving at the units, thereby allowing us to adhere 

Page 50



 

19 
 

to safe social distancing and infection control requirements (IPC).  
 
Using a clinically staffed telephone triage and enhanced telephone technology across all sites MIIU 
are now able to assess a patient risk of covid as well as ensure they are directed to the most 
appropriate service at the earliest most point to prevent delay in treatment, manage demand and 
moved to as more planned process ion urgent care provisions.  Walk-ins will still be able to access 
care at all units 
 
Patient behaviour is suggesting they are keen to use telephone triage before arriving at a unit, as it 
reduces waiting, but MIIUs continue to accept walk-ins and have local processes in place to 
manage the risk. 
 
GHFT ED can now direct minor illness or injury patients presenting at ED to Stroud, Cirencester or 
Lydney MIIUs by booking them into an appointment so that secondary triage is not required and the 
patient can be seen in a timely, safe manner and release pressure on our Acute ED.  This went live 
on 1st February 2021 
 
We have assessed the normal levels of throughput into the units across the county to understand 
the impact the reduced opening hours will have.  We have considered the available space within 
each of the waiting areas and the normal levels of demand and taking account of all the available 
capacity across the county we believe that we are able to offer 94% of normal capacity overall.  
Within the hours of 8am – 8pm this rises to 98%.  We do however, recognise that there are some 
differences in terms of the availability within each of our localities as some units may not have 
always fully utilised all of their normal capacity and have the ability to see more patients than they 
normally do.  We are therefore confident that we are able to offer a robust and resilient offer in 
every locality. 
 
Theatre activity at Tewkesbury; 
This unit was closed in November 2020 following discussion at Silver and Gold incident levels to 
support the system flow issues with the anticipation that this area could be re-utilised to provide 
additional inpatient capacity.   This was ultimately not put in place but the staff were redeployed to 
support other winter initiatives and since then we have had a number of resignations that mean that 
we are currently unable to re-open this service.  The current activity is delivered by GHT and they 
have continued to absorb this daycase activity into other sites across the county.  We anticipate 
that this service will become operational on the 1st April 2021. 
 

Timescales involved 

Proposed extension from 31/3/21 to 30/06/21 
 

What is the reason for the proposed service change? 

Drivers for change:  
 

1. Safe care environments 
 
COVID-19 has demonstrated that the current MIIU walk- in offer creates challenges in social 
distancing and this continues to be the case, but the Dilke presents a particular challenge where the 
size and configuration of the environment make it impossible to offer a viable service and maintain 
a COVID secure environment.  Also, in order to manage flow we are trying to maximise booked 
attendances. 
 

2. Public behaviour  
 
Nationally there has been a significant change regarding how people access services and how they 
view risk to personal health due to Covid-19. The use of digital/telephony to deliver ‘remote care’ 

Page 51



 

20 
 

has increased significantly. We are trying to ensure MIIUs make best use of this approach, to 
ensure a safe and effective offer for patients  
 

3. National Strategy  
 

The national ‘Think First’ and ‘Talk before you Walk’ campaign give us the opportunity to match 
demand with a ‘safe’ service offer. Bookable appointments will help ensure that social distancing is 
adhered to, whilst still offering a same day service for patients.  

 
4. Safe staffing  

In order to safely operate our MIIUs we require two qualified staff at all times. With the need to 
increase spacing, stream at triage for Covid status and offer clinically led telephone triage we need 
to maintain a slightly reduced offer to ensure we adhere to our safe staffing levels.  
 

5. Resilient staffing  
 
The MIIUs operate a staffing model that presents some challenges to resilience in normal times, 
and during pre-Covid we had a significant reliance on bank and agency. We have noted some 
issues during Covid with the unreliability of Agency bookings as well as a significant reduction in 
availability of Bank staff who are being booked for other P1 services, covid recovery and covid new 
service delivery, including mass vaccination service. 
 
We have some vulnerable staff who are unable at this stage to return to front line services.  These 
staff lead the telephone triage offer and affect how we can use this resource to fully open all units.  
 
Historically, we have experienced a relatively high number of internal service escalations resulting 
in the closure of MIIU units due to staffing levels. This was significantly reduced during Covid with 
our reduced hours, and we have undertaken careful planning to increase our offer to ensure we do 
not have increased last-minute closures.  
 
With booked appointments becoming the norm within urgent care we are offering more 
appointments to our service partners in GHC so that we enable other P1 services to manage their 
staffing challenges, such as booked appointments for DN and IVT patients, as well as redeploying 
some of the residual staff currently from Tewks MIIU to support Rapid Response revised Urgent 
Winter Plans using Cinapsis.  This will cease in April when Tewks MIIU reopens as suggested 
above.  
 
Risk Assessment & Management 
 
Safe and effective operating procedures remain in place in order to ensure that activity is safely 
managed, these are reviewed weekly as national or local intelligence requires. GHC use a standard 
approach to risk assessment based on (1) the likelihood of risk happening from 1 (rare) to 5 (almost 
certain) and (2) the consequence of risk happening from 1 (negligible) to 5 (catastrophic). These 
two domains are then multiplied to give a score with the following thresholds to classify risk: 
 
1 – 3 low risk  
4 – 6 moderate risk  
8 – 12 high risk  
15 – 25 extreme risk  
 
The following risk factors were considered when making the decision to continue to offer a 
restricted service offer, while requesting an extension of the site closure at the Dilke and the hours 
reduction (8pm-11pm) at Stroud, Cirencester and Lydney.  
 
 

Page 52



 

21 
 

Risk  There is a risk we are unable to maintain safe care environments at all 
sites due to the need to physically space waiting patients, resulting in 
increased risk of Covid exposure to patients and staff. 

Mitigation  - Undertake site reviews with IPC and estates at all facilities to 
identify maximum capacity  

- Update internal escalation processes for when this new 
capacity is exceeded 

- Increase opening hours to spread attendances  
- Open units where suitable spacing options identified e.g. 

extend into outpatients and/or use of car as ‘waiting pod’ 
- Use of clinically led telephone triage to direct patient flow 
- Use of booked appointments to manage patient flow  

 
Recommendation: 

(1) Maintain closure of Dilke site 
(2) Increase opening hours at Tewkesbury to 8-8pm and continue 

to review ability and capacity at the Vale 

Pre-mitigation 
score 

12 

Post 
mitigation 
score  

8 

 

Risk  There is a risk we are unable to safely staff the units resulting in 
unpredictable service closure 

Mitigation  - Use of clinically led telephone triage to direct patient flow 
- Use of booked appointments to manage patient flow  
- Last new patient accepted 30 minutes prior to unit closure e.g. 

7.30pm 
- Use of internal escalation process to support inter site flow 

 
Recommendation: 

(3) Continue to develop the remote triage capabilities of clinicians 
(4) Increase the number of bookable slots available to NHS 111  

Pre-mitigation 
score 

12 

Post 
mitigation 
score  

8 

 

Risk  There is a risk we are unable to safely staff units during the second 
Covid surge resulting in unpredictable service closures  

Mitigation  - Use of clinically led telephone triage to direct patient flow 
- Use of shielding/vulnerable staff to undertake remote triage 
- Use of booked appointments to manage patient flow  
- Potential to revert to Covid phase 1 offer   

Pre-mitigation 
score 

12 

Post 
mitigation 
score  

8 

 

Risk  There is a risk patients attend other healthcare settings when MIIUs 
are closed resulting in unmanageable demand for our partners  

Page 53



 

22 
 

Mitigation  - Increase number of sites open 
- Increase opening hours  
- Use of clinically led telephone triage to direct patient flow 
- Use of booked appointments to manage patient flow  

 
Recommendation: 

(5) Open Tewkesbury & Vale  
(6) Increase opening hours at other sites  

Pre-mitigation 
score 

8 

Post 
mitigation 
score  

6 

 
The Trust retains the following strategic risks on its corporate risk register, which are applicable to 
all services including the MIIUs: 

- Risk 264: The risk that Covid 19 poses to patient care (service delivery), due to increased 
demand/patient need and/or increased staff absence due to illness. 

- Risk 285: The risk that a second surge of Covid destabilises our recovery and winter plans 
- Risk 282: The risk that Covid 19 presents to staff health and wellbeing (risk score now 

reduced to 8) 
Risk 145 -Covid – Secure Buildings – Compliance 

-  

Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date? 

Due to the emergency powers granted under a level 4 incident, there was not a requirement to 
engage prior to the initial change. However, changes were discussed prior to go live with staff, key 
health partners and local MPs. These were then communicated across a range of media to ensure 
public awareness and understanding. 
 
Since the initial response MIIU staff continue to be involved in ensuring that we offer a safe and 
sustainable service. Plans continue to be extensively discussed with system partners.  
 

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this 

 
Changes in accessibility 
(I.e. transport issues/ opening 
hours etc.) 

We recogonise that the impact of closing at 8pm continues to 
result in a service reduction.  However, activity trends pre-
COVID confirmed that the majority of people attend prior to 8pm 
with less than 1 patient per hour on average arriving after 8pm    
 

 
Patients/ carers affected 
(demographic assumptions that 
have been made) 

Patients will receive a consistent offer in a safe environment, 
with fewer service closures.  
 
Experience will be monitored using the FFT. 

 
Changes in methods of 
delivery  
 
(venue / practitioner) 

Retained unit closure at Dilke, plus reduced hours at 
Cirencester, Stroud & Lydney.  
 
Introduction of telephone  triage for all booked patients using 
the Manchester Triage methodology alongside booked 
appointments available through 111 being further developed.  
 

 
Impact upon other service 
delivery 

Analysis undertaken with partners on impact at GHFT 
Emergency Departments. 

 
Wider implications 

As outlined in other sections, we have worked with partners to 
understand the impact of ongoing service reductions for other 

Page 54



 

23 
 

 
(Consider effects on community 
safety/ local economy etc.) 

healthcare organisations – as this proposal increases the offer 
we believe it has significantly mitigated the impact.  
 

Equality/ Inequality issues 
(How will it help achieve health 
improvement goals and reduce 
inequalities?) 

All localities will have an open MIIU to support equity of access 
as soon as possible. 
 
All localities will have a consistent offer to support equity of 
provision  
We retain a walk in offer for those unable to utilise a 
telephone/digital option 
Opening hours to 8pm is aimed at reducing the impact on those 
working/with caring responsibilities  

Name of person completing 
this pro-forma 

 
Kathy Cambell 
Service Director, Urgent Care. GHC.  

Date proforma completed  12 February 2021 

Outcome  
(HOSC Comments) 

 
 

 

  

Page 55



 

24 
 

Annex 3: Pro- forma - Consideration of ‘substantial’ nature of a proposed service variation:  

Stroke Rehabilitation at the Vale Hospital - Emergency Service Change 
Name of NHS Trust/ Name of NHS Commissioning Organisation 

Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 

Lead Manager and contact details 

Hilary Shand Hilary.shand@ghc.nhs.uk 
Deputy Chief Operating Officer   
 
Angela Potter Angela.Potter@ghc.nhs.uk 
Director of Strategy & Partnerships 
 

Details of the current service 

The current specialist stroke pathway is delivered jointly between Gloucester Hospitals NHS FT and 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS FT.  Stroke is the fourth single leading cause of death in the 
UK and the single largest cause of complex disability.  The national target is for 90% of stroke 
patients to receive care on a specialist stroke unit. 
 
Gloucester Hospitals NHS FT normally operate a 15 bedded Hyper-Acute stroke unit and a 36 
bedded Acute stroke unit whilst Gloucestershire Health & Care NHS FT operate a 14 bedded stroke 
rehabilitation unit at the Vale Hospital in Dursley.  Therefore, pre-COVID, the county had 65 
specialist stroke beds available for the population.   
 

Details of the proposed change to service 

In order to support the flow of patients through the two acute hospital sites and to ensure that 
people who needed intensive and/or specialist rehabilitation were still able to continue to receive 
this input in a timely manner the number of specialist stroke rehabilitation beds at the Vale Hospital 
was increased from 14 to 20 to support the overall need for specialist input in September 2020.  We 
had anticipated that the measures could be reversed in March 2021 but the ongoing impact of 
surge2 and winter pressures has mean’t that the system continues to operate under significant 
pressure and the ongoing social distancing measures continue to result in a reduced number of 
stroke beds being available to the system.   
 
The proposal therefore is to continue to utilised the full 20 beds at the Vale for complex stroke 
rehabilitation rather than reverting back to a combination of specialist stroke beds (14) and general 
rehabilitation beds (6 beds).   
 
This will continue to enable the following: 

- Reduced number of patients waiting in GHT who were ready to step down to community 
based specialist rehabilitation 

- Continuation of appropriate therapy in an optimal community environment, to help maximise 
their recovery and rehabilitation potential.  

- Fewer wasted bed days in GHT waiting to access the services. This includes waiting for a 
HASU bed at the front door as well as waiting to move to more appropriate parts of their 
pathway  

 
We recognise that the continued use of the 6 beds at the Vale potentially reduces local access to 
local general rehabilitation beds in the Berkley Vale area however beds at Stroud remain available 
to the whole locality.  In addition, our community teams are continuing to work closely across the 
system with Early Supported Discharge continuing to be available to enable those people who can 
go directly home to do so with intensive support into the home. 
 

Timescales involved 

Proposed extension from 31/03/21 to 30/06/21 

Page 56

mailto:Hilary.shand@ghc.nhs.uk
mailto:Angela.Potter@ghc.nhs.uk


 

25 
 

 

What is the reason for the proposed service change? 

Drivers for change:  
 

6. Required Capacity for ensuring access to specialist Stroke Pathways of Care 
 

Changes that have had to be implemented to ensure that hospital based care continues to be 
delivered in safe care environments has meant that overall the bed base across the county for 
specialist stroke rehabilitation has need to be reduced.  Even with the change of use for the beds at 
the Vale hospital there remains a loss of 5 beds to the stroke pathway.  Not utilising the stroke beds 
would reduce the stroke specialist capacity from 65 beds in normal circumstances to 54.  
 

7. National Strategy  
 

The national stroke pathway recommends that 90% of patients who have a stroke are cared for 
within a specialist stroke unit across an integrated system.  Utilisaton of the additional beds at the 
Vale Hospital will help ensure that the people of Gloucestershire have the greatest opportunity to 
receive care in a specialist environment and achieve the best possible outcomes and recovery.  

 
8. Resilient staffing  

 
We recognise that COVID has presented a number of challenges to the resilience of the NHS 
workforce in general.  We have some vulnerable staff who are unable at this stage to return to front 
line services and these staff and there has been a greater reliance on bank and agency staff to 
cover the units.  We have assessed the additional workforce required in order to deliver the 
increased level of acuity and complexity from the six additional stroke patients and are currently 
sourcing the resources to continue to safely meet this requirement over the next phase of proposed 
service change.  
 
Risk Assessment & Management 
 
Safe and effective operating procedures remain in place in order to ensure that activity is safely 
managed, these are reviewed weekly as national or local intelligence requires. GHC use a standard 
approach to risk assessment based on (1) the likelihood of risk happening from 1 (rare) to 5 (almost 
certain) and (2) the consequence of risk happening from 1 (negligible) to 5 (catastrophic). These 
two domains are then multiplied to give a score with the following thresholds to classify risk: 
 
1 – 3 low risk  
4 – 6 moderate risk  
8 – 12 high risk  
15 – 25 extreme risk  
 
The following risk factors were considered when making the decision to convert our six community 
rehabilitation beds at the Vale Hospital to specialist stroke beds.  
 
 

Risk  There is a risk we are unable to maintain sufficient capacity across the 
system to provide specialist care for patients who have suffered a 
stroke  

Mitigation  - Continue to review the hyper acute, acute and rehabilitation 
capacity across the system 

- Convert the six beds at the vale hospital to enable additional 
rehabilitation capacity to ensure patient flow through the more 
acute elements of the pathway 

Page 57



 

26 
 

- Undertake site reviews with IPC and estates at all facilities to 
identify maximum capacity  

- Update internal escalation processes for when this new 
capacity is exceeded 

 
Recommendation: 

(7) Increase the specialist rehabilitation bed capacity at the Vale 
Hospital   

Pre-mitigation 
score 

16 

Post 
mitigation 
score  

8 

 

Risk  There is a risk we are unable to safely staff the additional beds 

Mitigation  - Assess skills and resources across the system to maximise 
the use of specialist skilled staff 

- Use of bank and agency staff where needed on a block 
booked basis  

- Use of internal escalation process to support inter site flow 
 
Recommendation: 

(1)Continue to assess safe staffing levels and specialist therapy 
requirements 

 

Pre-mitigation 
score 

16 

Post 
mitigation 
score  

12 

 
The Trust retains the following strategic risks on its corporate risk register, which are applicable to 
all services including the MIIUs: 

- Risk 264: The risk that Covid 19 poses to patient care (service delivery), due to increased 
demand/patient need and/or increased staff absence due to illness. 

- Risk 285: The risk that a second surge of Covid destabilises our recovery and winter plans 
- Risk 282: The risk that Covid 19 presents to staff health and wellbeing  

Has any consultation or engagement/ involvement taken place to date? 

Due to the emergency powers granted under a level 4 incident, there was not a requirement to 
engage prior to the initial inpatient bed changes. However, changes were discussed prior to go live 
with staff, key health partners and with HOSC members during the briefing sessions that took place 
throughout COVID although the longer term requirement was not known at that point. 
 
Since the request to retain the additional specialist stroke beds the staff working at the Vale have 
been involved in 2 sessions to help us develop the model of care and understand the wider 
implications.  This has included looking at the impact to those patients who require general and not 
specialist stroke rehabilitation and this has also been discussed with system partners.  
 

Expected impact of change and what is being done to address this 

 
Changes in accessibility 
(I.e. transport issues/ opening 
hours etc.) 

By increasing the specialist stroke rehabilitation service by six 
beds those patients who have had a stroke across the county 
have a greater access to the required specialist care. 
 
However, we have a consequential decrease in the general 

Page 58



 

27 
 

rehabilitation offer within the Berkeley Vale locality.  This will be 
met by the services provided at the Stroud Hospital and from 
the wider county beds.  
 
Patients will continue to be prioritised based on clinical need 
and we will endeavour to ensure that patients are cared for as 
close to home as is possible.  

Patients/ carers affected 
(demographic assumptions that 
have been made) 

Patients who have suffered a stroke will continue to receive 
specialist care in a county wide service offer.  As this is the 
single county unit there is no impact in terms of access for 
those who people who are recovering from a stroke. 
 
Experience will be monitored using the FFT 
 

Impact upon outcomes of care  We will continue to be able to offer the specialist services 
needed for patients who have suffered a stroke and therefore 
patient outcomes will be maintained. 
 
Outcomes will be monitored through the stroke sentinel audits 

 
Impact upon other service 
delivery 

There are a number of patients who would have been able to 
receive general rehabilitation within the beds at the Vale if this 
change was not to happen who will now receive their care in the 
nearest available unit.  
 
Experience will be monitored using the FFT. 

 
Wider implications 
 
(Consider effects on community 
safety/ local economy etc.) 

As outlined in other sections, we have worked with partners to 
understand the impact of ongoing service reductions for other 
patient groups – as this proposal increases the offer for stroke 
patients we believe it has significantly mitigated the impact of 
the overall loss of specialist beds.  
 

Equality/ Inequality issues 
(How will it help achieve health 
improvement goals and reduce 
inequalities?) 

The specialist stroke rehabilitation service at the Vale is a 
county wide service and is open to the whole population based 
on clinical need. 
 
The remaining community hospitals will all continue to offer 
general rehabilitation for all residents across the county 
 

Name of person completing 
this pro-forma 

 
Angela Potter 
Director of Strategy and Partnerships, GHC.  

Date proforma completed 15 February 2021 

Outcome  
(HOSC Comments) 

 
 

 

Page 59



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Report Title Gloucestershire CCG Performance report

February 2021

Purpose of Report The performance framework report provides the Committee with an overview of Gloucestershire

CCG performance against the NHS constitutional and other agreed standards.

A full summary of performance against national and local standards as reported to GCCG Governing

Body is included, with supporting narrative to inform members of key system actions to

support continued performance or mitigating actions to give assurance where performance is below

target or there is outlying variation across the county.

Is this for information

or decision?

This Report is for information.

Authors Kat Doherty, Senior BI Manager, GCCG

Key Issues:

• There has been widespread impact of COVID-19 on activity and performance across the system, affecting nearly every

service and target.

• While some activity recovery is underway, this is at risk currently due to continued impact of COVID-19 during December/

January both in terms of direct impact on services and patient behaviour, and challenges remaining due to configurational,

infection control and staffing issues.

• Performance in Gloucestershire compares well to the national position, with the exception of performance to the 4 hour ED

performance target and ambulance response times. In particular, GHFT cancer services should be noted for their

continued excellent performance throughout the pandemic.

P
age 61

A
genda Item

 7



Contents

This document is a highlight report which is presented to give the CCG Governing Body an overview 

of current CCG and provider performance across a range of national priorities and local standards. 

Contents

1.0 CCG Performance Overview

2.0 Performance Dashboards

3.0 Performance Updates 

- Urgent Care

- Planned Care

- Cancer Services

- Mental Health

- Continuing Health Care

2

P
age 62



1.0 CCG Performance Overview

CCG NHS Oversight assessments for 2019/20 were published on 

25th November 2020, with GCCG being rated “Good” overall based on assessment of 

indicators covering 5 key areas:

3

• New Service Models

• Preventing Ill Health and Reducing Inequalities

• Quality of Care and Outcomes

• Leadership and Workforce

• Finance and Use of ResourcesP
age 63



2.0 Performance Dashboard

78.4

%

Performance
(all Gloucestershire 

patients)

2 Week 

Waits

2 Week 

Waits Breast

31 Day 1st

Treatment

31 Day Waits 

Surgery 

31 Day Waits 

Drugs 

31 Day Waits 

Radiotherapy

62 Day GP 

Referral

62 Day 

Screening

62 Day 

Upgrade

93.4% 87.0%

Planned Care

RTT /

Diagnostics

December

2020

RTT Incomplete <18 weeks        RTT 52 week breaches

All Providers  GHFT           All Providers GHFT   

Diagnostics >6 weeks

(All providers)       (GHFT)              .

Diagnostics >6 weeks (YTD)

(All providers)          (GHFT)

16.3%

Unscheduled 

Care 

4 Hour A&E  

Jan-20 

(System)

4 Hour A&E  

Jan-20

(GHFT)

Category 1 Ambulance

December-20

(Gloucestershire) 

Category 1 Ambulance

December -20

SWAST

80.5% 68.5% 8.8 mins 8.3 mins

Delayed Transfers of 

Care (DToC)

Reporting suspended 

nationally

IAPT  
(December 

2020)

Access
(target 1.53%)

Recovery
(target 50%)

1.5% 53.6%

GHFT 

Performance

Cancer 

Dashboard 
(December 2020)

13.7%

Dementia 

Diagnosis

(December 

2020)

Estimated Diagnosis 

Rate (Target 66.7%)

62.5%

70.9% 70.8%

93.2% 91.4% 96.3% 96.3% 86.9%

1515

Arrow direction reflects performance 

from previous month

27.0% 23.3%

100% 78.9%

78.6% 

100%

100% 93.6%

4

1187

97.3% 100% 98.5%

98.6%

100%

P
age 64



2.0 National Performance Summary

Performance against key standards continues to follow the national trends, however with the exception of A&E 

and Ambulance Category 1 response times, Gloucestershire performance generally improves on the national 

position. There has been a significant decline in overall A&E performance nationally, with reduction in activity due 

to national lockdown measures not having the same impact on 4 hour performance as early in the year, when 

many areas saw a significant improvement in performance.  December performance nationally has dropped by 

4%, largely due to the continued rise in COVID-19 cases which is putting pressure on all parts of the NHS 

nationally.  Locally, 4 hour performance remains a significant concern due to continued pressure on acute beds 

and flow through the hospital.

Across all other standards both the national and GCCG position is a trend towards improvement – with the caveat 

that current performance positions are taken generally before the impact of the COVID-19 second wave has 

occurred.  There is likely to be deterioration in the coming months across the majority of targets, before services 

have had the opportunity to recover further.  Nationally, cancer services have struggled to improve on 

performance  impacted in the first COVID-19 wave – emphasising the success of Gloucestershire’s cancer 

services in continuing to provide services throughout the COVID-19 response and thereafter.

Target Reporting Period National Gloucestershire

A&E 4 hour Jan-2021 81.7% 80.5%

Ambulance – Cat 1 Dec-2020 7.5 minutes 8.8 minutes

RTT – 18 week Dec-2020 68.2% 70.9%

Diagnostics – 6 week Dec-2020 27.5% 16.3%

Cancer 2ww Nov-2020 87.0% 91.2%

Cancer 62 day Nov-2020 75.5% 82.3%

Dementia Diagnosis Dec-2020 62.2% 62.5%

5

P
age 65



3.0 COVID impact – unscheduled care activity

6

2019 2020
Year to year 

change
2019 2020

Year to 

year 

change

2019 2020

Year to 

year 

change

2019 2020

Year to 

year 

change

2019 2020

Year to 

year 

change

A&E attendances (all  at GHFT) 441 363 82.3% 430 335 77.9% 436 304 69.7% 429 300 69.9% 407 267 65.6%

Emergency admissions (GCCG patients 

at GHFT)*
171 178 104.1% 179 179 100.0% 179 174 97.2% 177 160 90.4% 174 156 89.7%

MIIU attendances (GCCG patients at 

GHC sites)
223 126 56.5% 196 109 55.6% 192 91 47.4% 194 83 42.8% 189 56 29.6%

Community hospital  admissions (GCCG 

patients at GHC sites)
6.0 5.0 83.3% 6.6 5.9 89.4% 6.2 5.0 80.6% 5.8 5.5 94.8% 5.7 6.3 110.5%

Calls to NHS111 (GCCG patients) 432 552 127.8% 423 475 112.3% 546 464 85.0% 579 491 84.8%
Data 

unvailable

Data 

unvailable

SWAST calls (GCCG patients) 272 283 104.0% 270 273 101.1% 288 261 90.6% 304 276.0 90.8%
Data 

unvailable

Data 

unvailable

January

Daily average

DecemberNovemberOctoberSeptember

Trend from April 2019 to latest available data (January 2021 for A&E/MIIU, December 2020 for NHS111/SWAST)

P
age 66



8

3.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

P
age 67



9

3.1 System Overview Unscheduled Care

P
age 68



10

3.1 Unscheduled Care - 4 hour A&E

In January, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (RTE) saw 68.5% of patients in 4 hours of less in 
a Type 1 setting. Gloucestershire STP saw 80.5% of patients in all settings within 4 hours.

Of the 113 providers with Type 1 A&E service, GHFT ranked joint 69th, an improvement on last month’s 
ranking. Gloucestershire STP ranked 16th of the 42 STPs in overall percentage of attendances within 4 hours 
and 23rd of the 41 STPs with type 1 activity. Last month the STP ranked 22nd for overall attendances and 31st 
for type 1 activity. This is a significant improvement in ranking over the summer months, particularly in terms of 
system performance, indicating that nationally many areas are struggling to deliver consistent 4 hour 
performance as COVID-19 cases remain high in many acute hospitals.

Despite some reduction in activity across ED as a total, the GRH site remains busy as the majority of 
reductions have been in MIIU attendances.  COVID admissions have begun to fall, now accounting for 6.4% of 
all emergency admissions (as at the first week of February), while total emergency admissions remain 
constant.  There is continued focus on increasing discharge of patients and supporting admission avoidance 
schemes to assist the acute in maintaining patient flow.

P
age 69



10

GHFT 4 hour performance split by site

P
age 70



11

3.1 Emergency Department activity

Activity demand on Emergency Departments has seen a national decline during COVID-19 lockdown, with the 

broad pattern repeated in all regions – a reduction in visits to minor and major A&E departments, emergency 

admissions through A&E and patients transported to A&E by ambulance.

After the initial sharp decline, activity has been recovering throughout the lockdown period, with a faster 

increase seen at the GRH site, particularly after the temporary changes at CGH were introduced. 

Later national lockdowns have not impacted ED activity to the same extent though there has been a slight 

decline from October onwards when COVID cases began to rise in the community again, and a smaller dip 

since the start of the January 2021 restrictions. Overall, emergency admissions are at a similar level to 

January 2020, despite significant reductions in overall admissions due to necessary constraints on elective 

activity to support the COVID-19 response.

P
age 71



3.1 Unscheduled Care - NHS111 

NHS111 calls have been volatile in 2020 as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.  Overall call volumes have 

returned to closer to expected levels in the last few months, however with November and December calls not 

seeing the increase that 2019 did, despite the launch in December of “Think NHS111” – aimed to encourage 

patients to contact NHS111 first rather than walking into ED.  This may be the result of continued COVID-19 

restrictions, so continued monitoring will assess patient uptake and outcome in the coming months.

Work is continuing around strengthening the validation of ED and ambulance dispositions from NHS111 to reduce 

unnecessary ED attendances and ambulance call outs, with Practice Plus now reaching 70% of ambulance and 

ED dispositions.  While ambulance dispositions have remained relatively stable, ED dispositions have continued to 

drop month on month since the proportional peak seen in June 2020.

Validation of emergency care dispositions will also be supported by additional “off pathways” clinical validation 

(Highnam model), where ED dispositions are validated by GPs external to NHS111 to ensure the most appropriate 

pathway is recommended.  This trial is already proving successful, with a downgrade rate for dispositions of 

around 80%.  

In December, calls answered within 60 seconds remained relatively stable with 86.6% of calls meeting the target.
12

P
age 72



12

3.2 Unscheduled Care - Ambulance Category 1

December 2020 saw a marked deterioration in ambulance response time performance across all response 

categories.  GCCG performance in Category 1 was 8.8 minutes on average, with SWAST overall 

performance at 8.3 minutes.  

Total incident numbers were similar to the August-October 2020 period, with 8549 unique incidents in 

December.  This is lower than  December 2019 levels, perhaps reflecting continued effects of national 

COVID-19 restrictions.

Overall incident outcomes remained broadly similar to previous months, with 52.9% incidents conveyed to 

an ED or MIIU.  There has been a slight increase in total calls originating from the NHS111 service (equating 

to a 1.5% increase proportionally for all activity compared to full YTD).  This may be indicative of changes in 

patient behaviour due to the “Think NHS111” campaign, alternatively may also reflect higher patient acuity, 

as an increased % of NHS 111 originating calls went on to be conveyed to ED than in previous months.

P
age 73



13

3.2 Unscheduled Care - Ambulance Category 2

Category 2 response time performance decreased significantly in Gloucestershire in December having held 

stable through the autumn months.  GCCG December average Category 2 response time was 27.2 minutes, 

against total SWAST performance of 27 minutes.

This reflects an increasingly challenged position for SWAST, where demand on the service has not reduced 

significantly, but staff absence and time lost to handover delays has increased.  This has led to increased 

pressure, particularly in Gloucestershire where the category 2 response time had remained lower than the 

SWAST average throughout most of 2020/21 to date, but now is in line with the regional average.  

This deterioration has been seen nationally, with notable press attention on the increasing ambulance 

response times across the country, and large rises in handover delays seen at most acute hospital sites.

P
age 74



15

3.2 – Ambulance Category 1 response times by district

P
age 75



14

3.2 Delayed Transfers of Care

From March 2020, national reporting of DToCs has been postponed by NHSE/I meaning that GHFT are not 

currently fully reporting all delays and validating the position, however delays for both COVID positive and 

negative patients are contributing to a relatively high number of patients in GHFT who are medically stable, 

which in turn is causing challenges with flow of patients through the acute hospital. 

In order to reduce the number of patients in hospital who are delayed, we have been working as a system to 

increase the proportion of patients who are discharged straight home (with support where necessary), 

increase assessment bed capacity (so patients can have their Adult Social Care/Continuing Health Care 

assessment outside of hospital) and increase capacity in community hospitals.

In community settings, delayed transfers of care have remained low in the community hospitals, however 

DToCS have begun to rise in mental health inpatient settings from the low point seen during the COVID-19 

lockdown period. 

P
age 76



15

3.2 Long Stay (>21 day LoS)

Long stay monitoring has been updated to look at the proportion of total stays in acute hospitals where beds 

are occupied by patients with a length of stay (LOS) over 7, 14, and 21 days.  

At GHFT, the proportion of long stay patients dropped in comparison to the 2019 baseline during the initial 

COVID-19 surge, however has risen to above 2019 levels from the summer of 2020 onwards.  Having risen 

to the highest point just before the Christmas period in December 2020, there has been a decrease in the 

proportion of long stay patients in all 3 LOS brackets into January 2021.  This reflects continued efforts in the 

acute trust to keep the flow of patients through the hospital moving, and has been supported by significant 

expansion in assessment bed capacity.

GHFT have closed a significant number of beds to support COVID-19 infection control and social distancing, 

which is also contributing to the increased % of long stay patients seen, despite recent total numbers being 

similar to the same period in 2020.

P
age 77



16

3.3 System Overview - Planned Care

P
age 78



17

3.4 Planned Care - Diagnostic >6 weeks

Overall performance in December continues to improve on the April/ May position for the CCG however remains

significantly above the <1% of patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test standard at 16.3% (lowest

performance level was May at 47.7%). This improvement in performance has been primarily driven by other

providers with around 400 fewer patients waiting more than 6 weeks for a diagnostic test compared to November.

GHFT’s position has improved to 13.69% compared to 14.41% in November.

Having cleared the backlog in numbers, GHFT continue to meet the standard in: MRI, Barium Enema, Dexa Scan,

Audiology Assessments, Electrophysiology, and Peripheral Neurophys. However there has been a dip in

performance for CT and NOUS which did not meet the standard this month.

Endoscopy remains an area of concern, and although November data showed a significant increase in activity, these

levels have dropped again in December. As expected performance has declined likely due to the second surge of

the COVID-19 pandemic. However, suspected cancer patients requiring endoscopic diagnostics continue to be

prioritised for these tests which has been supported by the implementation of FIT triage in primary care.

P
age 79



18

3.4 RTT

• Performance for December against
the RTT standard is 70.9% for
GCCG patients (% of the patient
waiting list for consultant led
treatment waiting under 18 weeks).
GHFT performance was 70.8%.
Performance has declined since the
October position due to elective
activity being severely affected by
the second wave of COVID-19.

• Long waits have increased
significantly since the start of the
COVID-19 pandemic, and although
stable for a while the numbers have
increased in December, again due
to the impact of COVID-19 on
elective surgery. There were 1515
over 52 week waits for the CCG,
1187 of which were at GHT. The
majority of breaches are in T&O
and “other” (mostly comprising
Upper and Lower GI surgery).

• The overall waiting list position at
GHFT has remained stable, with a
slight decrease in total patients
waiting for treatment in December
2020 compared to November.
However the shape of the waiting
list has changed and the total
numbers of patients waiting in each
week band has increased and
shifted to longer waits, i.e. more
patients waiting for longer.

P
age 80



3.5 2ww Overview Cancer

19

P
age 81



3.5 System Overview Cancer

20

P
age 82



3.5 System Overview Cancer

21

P
age 83



3.6 Cancer - 2 week waits

GCCG performance in December 2020 against the 2ww target improved to 93.2% therefore meeting the 

93% standard for patients to be seen within 2 weeks of a suspected cancer referral.  There were 145 

breaches in total, with the majority of the breaches occurring in the Breast pathway (95) which was the only 

specialty not to meet the 2 week standard in December.  Breast referrals have continued to be higher than 

2019 levels in the last few months, with more than 500 patients seen each month.  This has put pressure on 

the specialty at GHFT, especially as in late 2020 there was a period of significant staff sickness. A recovery 

plan is in place which includes the use of GLANSO clinics to support the clearance of the backlog and a 

capital bid for a new ultrasound machine to improve capacity.

The Lower GI specialty pathway has seen a drop in activity as FIT triage has now been rolled out to primary 

care (went live on 23rd November), which will help improve patient experience and reduce the pressure on 

endoscopy.  GLANSO lists for endoscopy to reduce the scoping backlog are also being run where possible.

22

P
age 84



3.7 Cancer - 62 days

23

CCG performance met all first and subsequent treatment targets in December 2020, with activity for cancer treatments 
remaining broadly in line with 2019 levels and higher than many other trusts nationally.  Against the 62 day referral to treatment 
standard, 86.9% of patients were treated within 62 days of a GP 2ww referral, with 100% of patients referred via a screening 
programme and 78.9% of consultant referred patients treated in this timeframe.  Screening activity has increased significantly 
from the low numbers seen throughout the COVID-19 pandemic, but may again be impacted by the second surge in the winter 
months.

For GP referred patients, there were 25 breaches: 1 in Breast (97.1%), 2 in Gynaecological (83.3%), 1 in Haematological 
malignancies (75.0%), 8 in Lower GI (50.0%), 1 in Lung (90.9%), 4 in Skin (92.6%), 2 in Upper GI (83.3%), and 6 in Urology 
(83.8%). Lower GI breaches are caused mainly due to patients being treated now they have received an endoscopic diagnostic 
following delays due to the endoscopy restrictions in the first COVID wave.  The introduction of FIT triage should help to 
support future performance in this specialty.  

Work on transformational cancer schemes such as the early diagnosis and rapid diagnostics pathways has continued in the 
county following the initial COVID response, and the cancer services and wider programme group are continuing to review the 
impact of COVID on referrals and cancer diagnoses to ensure that communications can be targeted towards groups of patients 
where this is concern some cancers may have been missed during the pandemic.

P
age 85



3.8 System Overview: Mental Health - IAPT

25

P
age 86



26

3.8 Mental Health - IAPT

IAPT access rates had stabilised 
following the significant decline which 
occurred during the COVID response 
period, however did decline slightly in 
December 2020 reaching the annual 
equivalent of 18.2% of the estimated 
target population accessing IAPT 
services.  This is below the planned 
levels for the end of 2019/20 however 
reflects planned lower service capacity 
over the Christmas period.  The service 
has reconfigured to allow continued 
provision of group therapy for IAPT via 
online services such as MS Teams, 
which allows patients a greater choice 
for their therapy.  With additional 
restrictions and a new national lockdown 
in place, there may be further impact on 
performance levels in the coming 
months.

Recovery rates for the IAPT service 
were also negatively impacted in the 
early part of the COVID response as 
patients chose to not complete therapy 
and due to the need to reorganise the 
service, some sessions were cancelled.  
From June onwards however, the 
service has achieved the national 
recovery standard of 50% of those 
patients completing therapy moving to 
recovery, with the December recovery 
rate at 53.6%.

P
age 87



3.9 Continuing Health Care - Referrals

From 1st September, the COVID interim funding pathway has changed, so that now acute discharges requiring 

assessment or interim care follow a COVID discharge pathway.  This will be funded for up to 6 weeks per patient by 

NHSE to facilitate discharge and will include end of life referrals from the acute, who would previously have been 

Fast Track patients, as well as other bed based pathways (for example non-weight bearing beds).  

As acute end of life discharges are not currently counted in the Fast Track numbers, it appears Fast Track referrals 

are lower than in 2019/20, however this is likely due to the change in pathway reflecting only community Fast Track 

referrals rather than a true reduction in numbers – January 2021 has seen another increase in Fast Track referrals.

All other referrals into CHC had returned to the pre-COVID process, with positive and negative checklist referrals at 

a similar level to the pre-COVID average in October 2020.  This has declined again since November 2020.  The 

large number of positive checklists received in September 2020 reflects the patients who had previously been 

“interim COVID funded” from March 2020-August 2020 and received a positive checklist indicating that a full CHC 

assessment would be required.  

The full cohort of previously COVID interim funded patients have mostly been assessed to determine ongoing care 

and funding requirements.  Of the 705 patients requiring assessment, 299 required CHC assessment, and 406 

required ASC assessment.  As of the end of January, 44 CHC assessments and 74 ASC assessments remain 

outstanding to be completed by 31st March 2021. 

28

P
age 88



3.9 Continuing Health Care Assessments completed in 28 days

From 1st September national monitoring of the 28 day target for assessment time was reintroduced, with all referrals made 
from this time subject to the target.  This also includes patients who were previously interim COVID funded but have had a 
positive checklist completed.  In January 2021 62 referrals were concluded, 34% within the 28 day timeframe – this is a 
similar level of activity to the pre-COVID average level and a slight dip in performance from the pre-COVID average of 
53% concluded within 28 days.  The ongoing work of the CHC team in assisting the COVID discharge pathway, in 
conjunction with the increase of assessments that have built up during the COVID response will likely impact performance 
through the coming months – there are currently 96 CHC cases waiting for assessment exceeding 28 days.

The assessment of interim COVID funded patients, and CHC cases which were deferred during the March-August period, 
has led to a number of outstanding assessments.  Additionally, there are significant numbers of patients discharged under 
the COVID discharge scheme who also require assessment – to date there have been 912 referrals on the COVID 
discharge scheme, however the majority of these do not require ongoing support (there have been 19 CHC cases, 76 
FNC cases, 771 cases requiring end of life or no further support from CHC, and 43 referrals outstanding).  

Referrals Concluded % Referrals Concluded within 28 days

29

P
age 89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



ICS Lead’s Report 1

                                                                                           

   

      Gloucestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

                                                 March 2021

                            One Gloucestershire ICS Lead Report

Since March 2020, the Health and Care system in Gloucestershire has been responding to the 

COVID-19 pandemic as a major incident. Our incident response has seen some changes to the 

way health and social care is being delivered to our population. The following report provides an 

update to HOSC members on the work of key programme and projects across Gloucestershire’s 

Integrated Care System (ICS) during this time.

Some of our programmes’ focus has inevitably changed during the pandemic and certain activities 

have been accelerated or prioritised because of the COVID-19 response. As the pandemic 

continues to grip the county we carry on focusing on demand on services including winter 

pressures and ongoing recovery. This includes continuing to return to a new ‘business as usual’, 

restarting our programmes as appropriate, and reprioritising in light of the new environment we are 

operating in. 

From April 2020 we moved into the fourth year of our Sustainability and Transformation plan. One 

of the roles of the ICS is to improve the quality of Health and Care by working in a more joined up 

way as a system. One ‘silver lining’ of the COVID-19 incident is that we continue to see new 

examples of excellent system working and delivery of best practice during the past few months, 

which the ICS have captured and intend to build on as we move forward. 

COVID-19 Response
The incident response continues to been delivered through a bronze, silver and gold command 

structure, working in partnership with the Local Resilience Forum and co-ordinating the NHS 

response across partner organisations. As the pandemic continues the work of the cells carry on 

evolving to ensure that the system is able to respond to pressures over the forthcoming months 

and through ongoing recovery. 

1. Introduction

Page 91

Agenda Item 8



ICS Lead’s Report 2

COVID-19 Recovery
In the week up to the 11th February 21 the number of COVID-19 cases continue to fall in 

Gloucestershire with the rate of new infections at 81 per 100,000 population. The number of 

patients with COVID-19 requiring admission has reduced but acute partners remain under 

pressure. As emphasised nationally everyone should continue to access planned and emergency 

health and care services as planned/required. 

We will continue to provide as much routine activity as possible throughout the latest wave of 

COVID-19 and will increase activity as capacity allows. 

During December 2020 we launched the ‘Help your GP surgery’ campaign which encourages the 

public to support primary care as they face immense ongoing  pressures, juggling not only the 

usual business, COVID-19, flu vaccinations alongside playing an important role in the COVID-19 

vaccination programme. More information can be found below;

https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/senior-doctors-say-help-your-gp-surgery-to-help-you/

COVID-19 Vaccination Programme 
Gloucestershire has already established a successful GP-led network of community vaccination 

centres and mobile services across the county, which have, and continue to make, enormous 

progress on vaccinating priority groups.

Within the county we currently have eleven approved COVID vaccination sites formed by our 

Primary Care Networks (PCNs).Gloucestershire residents in top priority groups have also been 

attending alternative vaccination sites, recently set up at Boots Pharmacy in Gloucester, Badhams 

Pharmacy in Bishops Cleeve and the Ashton Gate Stadium in Bristol.

All public vaccination services for Gloucestershire residents are appointment-only, with GPs and 

their teams continuing to provide the bulk of vaccinations at the GP led community vaccination 

centres. 

Page 92

https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/senior-doctors-say-help-your-gp-surgery-to-help-you/


ICS Lead’s Report 3

As of 2nd February over 100,000 people in the top priority groups had received their first dose of 

COVID-19 vaccine in Gloucestershire. We are confident pending vaccine supply that we are on 

track to meet the target of vaccinating the first four priority groups by the middle of February.

Up to date information about the community vaccination programme in Gloucestershire can be 

found via the NHS COVID-19 portal: https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations

Workforce is a significant priority to support the COVID vaccination programme. The CCG is 

supporting PCNs in continuing to identify additional staff including volunteers to support the delivery 

of the vaccine and ensuring they have the required training to undertake vaccinations. In 

accordance with guidance from NHSE/I, PCNs are utilising Additional Role Reimbursement (ARR) 

staff to support the vaccination programme.

Page 93

https://covid19.glos.nhs.uk/vaccinations


ICS Lead’s Report 4

Commemorating COVID – April 2021 

EVERY NAME A PERSON

 We pledge to never forget: 

Every name is a person.

Every person a life lived.

Every life a story behind 

 
Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is making plans to recognise the enormous 

contribution of staff and colleagues in caring for COVID patients and commemorate those who 

have passed away. 

A memorial sunken garden has been designed and commissioned and will be built at 

Gloucestershire Royal Hospital, by the side of the Redwood Education Centre. The garden will 

feature a wire dandelion centre piece, which will link to the Every Name A Person initiative. 

Fundraising initiatives will include the public sale of locally-created wire dandelions which can be 

temporarily planted for a few days (similar to the Tower of London poppy event).

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/every-name-a-person/

      

2. Enabling Active Communities
 

The Enabling Active Communities (EAC) programme looks to build a new sense of personal 

responsibility and improved independence for health, supporting community capacity and working 

with the voluntary and community sector.

The development of the Gloucestershire Prevention and Shared Care Plan, led by Public Health 

England, aims to improve health and wellbeing. It recognises that a more efficient approach to 

2. Enabling Active Communities 

Page 94

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/every-name-a-person/


ICS Lead’s Report 5

preventing ill health is very important. This will improve the health of the population and make an 

important contribution to the maintenance of sustainability in our ICS.

The programme continues to work on its recovery programme and in November 2020 we were 

successful in being awarded financial support from the NHSE/ Health Equalities Partnership to take 

forward project(s) aligning with the national eight priority actions to address inequalities. Using this 

funding we are progressing work through the Gloucester City Integrated Locality Partnership to 

agree the range and partners for a ‘population health management’ project focussed on health 

inequalities in the inner city. Partners from a range of agencies locally will come together to share 

their resources to work with a defined group of people at risk of poor health outcomes.  

A small amount of the funding will also  be used to explore the capacity of Voluntary, Community 

and Social Enterprise (VCSE) organisations representing Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic groups, 

looking at how they participate in and influence healthcare delivery and decision making in the 

county. These initiatives sit within the context of a wider Gloucester City Health Equalities plan 

which incorporates several other delivery and discovery work streams. 

The Clinical Programme Groups (CPGs) have all highlighted the impact of COVID-19 on the 

transformation programmes and continue to work through the incident and recovery phases. Where 

projects are able they are continuing to run but adapting their approach in light of COVID-19 

restrictions. Where projects are unable to continue contingency plans have been drawn up and new 

methods of delivery put into place. There is also opportunity to fast track some work programme 

content (i.e. non face to face appointments). The Cancer, Diabetes, and Respiratory Clinical 

Programme Groups have a high priority within the COVID- 19 response given the impact on people 

with these conditions. Cancer performance has improved significantly where patients waiting for 

referral under the 2 week wait have been treated and Gloucestershire is exceeding national 

performance averages. 

Recovery priority areas continue to focus on;

 Respiratory – COVID and Non COVID pathways

 Cancer (including implementation of Faecal Immunochemical Test - FIT)

3. Clinical Programme Approach

Page 95



ICS Lead’s Report 6

 Frailty pathway

 End of Life Care

 Muscular Skeletal  (MSK) Pathways

These areas have important links to;

 Mental Health pathways including social prescribing

 Diagnostics

 Use of remote technology including digital methods for advice and guidance between GPs 

and hospital clinicians.

These will sit alongside the existing CPG priority areas. All pathways are keen to build on the 

momentum of changes made to date, for example the use of virtual appointments and are looking 

to prioritise patient and public involvement to inform substantiating or introducing new changes.

There are many excellent examples of the work undertaken by the Clinical Programmes Groups, 

some of which have been focused on in this report.

Focus on End of Life 

Palliative and End of Life Care (PEoLC) Collaborative update 
As was shared with HOSC in November 2020 a Palliative and End of Life Care Collaborative was 

held during September - October 2020. The Collaborative used national priorities as a framework 

for discussion, with stakeholders identifying six local system need areas (outlined below). Since the 

Collaborative these local priorities along with the findings of the PEoLC needs assessment have 

been used as the basis for identifying work streams for the revised PEoLC strategy 2021-2025. 

 The publication of the strategy has been delayed due to system pressures felt across the ICS 

brought about by the pandemic, and need to develop the strategy co-productively. The PEoLC 

strategy is now due to be published in April 2021. 

 Six local system need areas:

1. Practitioners confident in responding to the changing needs and wishes of people as they 

reach the end of life and communicating well with system colleagues;

Page 96



ICS Lead’s Report 7

2. Understanding the individual and their family (including their unique presentations and 

needs, and consideration for personal context e.g. culture, ethnicity, learning disability);

3. Shared knowledge of the full range of services and community assets in the county (so that  

people can be supported to access the right care at the right time for them);

4. Shared Care Plans to enable timely responses and good documentation of wishes (including 

digital solutions);

5. Smooth and supported transitions between Children’s and Adult PEoLC services;

6. A sustainable finance model to enable high quality PEoLC to meet the needs of our local 

communities. 

COVID-19 End of Life Sub-Group 

With the rate of growth of COVID-19 cases increasing sharply in September and October 2020 

leading to a second national lockdown the COVID-19 End of Life Sub-Group was established and 

currently meets weekly. The overall purpose of this group is to strategically coordinate 

Gloucestershire’s ICS response to COVID-19 regarding end of life care. The group agrees priority 

areas of work; facilitating change at scale and pace, in line with Government advice. Some 

examples of the work of the group include:

 The development of  a Memorandum of Understanding to enhance partnerships to deliver 

PEoLC in the community

 Providing support to hospices to access testing and vaccinations

 Development of "Just in Case" anticipatory medication boxes to include oral medications 

 Development of guidance to registered nurses in care homes re completion of ReSPECT 

(Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care and Treatment) documentation.

The group has demonstrated the true nature and benefits of collaborative working. Shared Care 

issues such as access to suitable and sufficient PPE  have been focused on which has enabled the 

whole system to work in a  more coordinated manner, changing processes where required which in 

turn will enable the provision of better EoL care for the population.

Other areas of focus for the group include;

Page 97



ICS Lead’s Report 8

 Looking at how care homes can be supported to manage residents should a crisis happen. 

A 24/7 telephone support line has been established at Sue Ryder, Leckhampton Court. This 

has helped to reduce pressures on Ambulance Services and unplanned hospital admissions. 

 COVID Virtual Ward - assisting to reduce pressure on our Hospitals by monitoring patients 

at Home via Pulse Oximetry. 

End of Life Virtual Whiteboard
As a result of learning from COVID-19 and the collaborative an End of Life Virtual Whiteboard to 

support care co-ordination is in development. The End of Life Virtual Whiteboard project aims to 

take a personalised and population-based approach to end of life care. A Response Lead will 

enable early identification and proactive care coordination for people within a GP Practice who are 

within the last 12 months of life and at risk of their care needs escalating to a crisis point. The 

purpose of the Response Lead is to co-produce, test, refine and roll-out the End of Life Virtual 

Whiteboard model to all Primary Care Networks in Gloucestershire to reduce crisis situations for 

individuals.

 

Focus on The Living Well with Pain Programme in Gloucestershire

The Living Well with Pain Programme (LWwPP) is a system-wide, ICS, initiative to support people 

with persistent pain to live well with their symptoms and to minimise the harms associated with 

medical treatments for pain. 

The programme has been running for four years. The LWwPP follows the Clinical Programme 

approach which is integral to Gloucestershire’s ICS. This approach brings together key people 

across the pathway to collectively ensure that the services provided are evidence based and in the 

best interests of patients

The programme is currently divided into two work streams:

1. Services and support for patients

2. Safer Prescribing in pain

We are aware that the challenge of supporting people living with persistent pain needs to be 

developed within a whole system culture change, which recognises the need for:

 a shared understanding of the complexity of persistent pain presentations

Page 98



ICS Lead’s Report 9

 knowledge of the clinical evidence for benefits and harms of pain medicines

 data on pain medicines use in Gloucestershire

 development of a suite of resources to support people to live well with their persistent pain

Taking this into account, we have delivered numerous initiatives including educational programmes 

reaching 600 healthcare professionals including; GPs, pharmacists (working in primary care and in 

the community) and Musculoskeletal physiotherapists. 

We have collected data on all patients in Gloucestershire who may have been at risk from their 

pain medicines; all of the patients most at risk have been reviewed and encouraged to agree a 

safer medicines plan. This initiative is currently also being supported by a pilot of a specialist 

addictions worker in primary care in Gloucester and Cheltenham. 

Evidence tells us that supervised exercise is the most helpful intervention for people living with 

persistent pain and we are also piloting an online exercise course, supervised by experienced 

instructors, to help people with persistent pain increase their activity levels. The first of three 

cohorts in the pilot has been very successful in improving health and wellbeing and changing 

attitudes to exercise.

We continue to support initiatives, as part of the wider programme of service development, to help 

people with persistent pain to live well. More information can be found below;

https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/your-health/health-topic/pain/

Focus on Gloucestershire Advice and Guidance

Within urgent care, Advice & Guidance is a service enabling a clinical referrer to speak directly to a 

hospital specialist to discuss and plan the most appropriate care for a patient. The digital 

application supporting this service is called Cinapsis. Cinapsis can be used via a desk top 

computer or mobile phone and was initially introduced in January 2019. The table below shows the 

2020 review of the tool;

Page 99

https://www.gloucestershireccg.nhs.uk/your-health/health-topic/pain/


ICS Lead’s Report 10

There are many benefits of using Cinapsis for both patients and the system. Data shows that the 

tool has achieved the following;

 22% of referrals were retained in Primary Care avoiding a hospital visit

 7% were refereed to an alternative hospital service

 51% were able to be sent direct to an assessment unit avoiding the Emergency Department 

(ED).

 20% were directed to the Emergency Department

 80% of calls did not result in an Emergency Department visit. 

Services coved by Cinapsis include;

 Acute Medicine  Trauma and Orthopaedics

 Acute Paediatrics  Frailty service

 Respiratory  General surgery

 Palliative care  Dermatology 

 Paediatrics

There are plans to continue to add further services during the early part of 2021. 

A short video about the service can be found here: 

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aA-15MpG2aE&feature=youtu.be%3Frel%3D0&autoplay=1 

Page 100

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=aA-15MpG2aE&feature=youtu.be%3Frel%3D0&autoplay=1%20


ICS Lead’s Report 11

Focus on Community Based COVID Virtual Ward

The aim of the COVID virtual ward is to capture patients with low blood oxygen levels and ensure 

that they are admitted to hospital as soon as possible to reduce the risk of patients deteriorating at 

home. 

The virtual ward was rolled out across Gloucestershire from 16th November 2020. This service is 

referred into primarily by Primary Care GP’s from a daily automated system search of newly COVID 

positive cases for their practice or symptomatic patients who present. Additionally, the COVID 

virtual ward accepts direct referrals from ED, Maternity Triage, and Residential Care Homes. The 

referral criteria covers patients over 50 years old or those at risk of deterioration either due to 

clinical conditions (such as Diabetes), lifestyle / demographic factors (such as people of BAME 

background) or as assessed at clinical discretion. The patient is supported to input their readings 

from the pulse oximeter twice a day where they are reviewed by a clinical team.

One of the priorities of the COVID Virtual Ward Project team currently is to ensure all newly 

diagnosed COVID positive patients are identified, referred, and added to the ward with a pulse 

oximeter as soon as possible following the results of their test. Early evaluation of the ward shows 

that the sooner this happens, the more patients engage consistently through their whole pathway. 

To do this we have made pulse oximeters available in various locality based sites such as MIIU 

departments and pharmacies, as well as GP surgeries, to give patients a choice for friends / family 

members not self-isolating to collect their equipment rather than waiting for it to be delivered. 

To date over 1000 patients have received support from the COVID Virtual Ward with an average of 

220 patients being on the ward at one time most recently. Data shows that over 100 patients who 

were on the COVID virtual ward have been escalated to hospital since the implementation of the 

service, demonstrating the value of identifying patients requiring acute care. Patients being 

admitted to hospital as soon as a low oxygen level is identified have a better chance of a shorter 

stay in hospital and improved outcomes than those who are admitted with much lower readings 

who could have been deteriorating for a while without knowing. 

The feedback from the patient experience questionnaire that is sent to all patients at the point of 

discharge has shown 100% patient satisfaction with the service.

Page 101



ICS Lead’s Report 12

Supported Discharge Service
A remote supported discharge service has been developed for patients admitted to hospital for 

COPD and COVID, being run by GHFT and supported by GHC. The respiratory team are 

monitoring patients at home and offering enhanced support, advice, and guidance following 

discharge from a stay in hospital and supporting patients to wean off their oxygen at home. Patients 

are discharged with complexity or risk rating of high, medium, or low.

The average length of monitoring on this ward is approximately 14 days, but patients are assessed 

individually and reviewed until they are clinically safe to be discharged. The capacity for this ward is 

50 patients with availability to flex resources where possible. 

In January 2020, 65 patients were supported by this model, with 7 patients requiring further 

attendance at the hospital for review. Capacity has been increased with the valuable support of 

community teams, who are monitoring lower risk patients, enabling greater capacity for sicker 

patients to be supported on discharge.

Mental Health and Wellbeing Online Support
There are a number of online support platforms for children, young people, adults and families 

experiencing mental health issues and concerns and needing wellbeing advice ;

 Qwell - online digital platform which provides anyone in Gloucestershire aged 18 years and 

above to access self-care resources, information, peer support and access to trained 

counsellors. It is open to anyone experiencing issues with their emotional wellbeing, such as 

stress or anxiety and there is no need to be referred. 

https://www.wellaware.org.uk/organisation/qwell-online-counselling-and-well-being-for-

adults/

 Kooth - online digital platform for anyone aged between 11 and 18 years in Gloucestershire 

to access self-care resources, information, peer support and access to trained counsellors. 

This too is open to anyone experiencing issues with their emotional wellbeing, such as 

stress or anxiety and there is no need to be referred.

https://www.kooth.com/

 TIC+ - provides counselling support to children and young people (aged between 9 – 21 

years) and their families as well as an anonymous, one-to-one telephone/online chat drop-in 

Page 102

https://www.wellaware.org.uk/organisation/qwell-online-counselling-and-well-being-for-adults/
https://www.wellaware.org.uk/organisation/qwell-online-counselling-and-well-being-for-adults/
https://www.wellaware.org.uk/organisation/qwell-online-counselling-and-well-being-for-adults/
https://www.kooth.com/


ICS Lead’s Report 13

service for children and young people aged between 9 and 21 years who are struggling with 

their mental health and a helpline for parents.

https://www.ticplus.org.uk/

 Gloucestershire Self Harm Helpline offers non-judgemental listening support for people 

who self-harm their families and carers.

https://www.gloucestershireselfharm.org/

 Be Well Gloucestershire is a local campaign supported by the county’s NHS and care 

organisations aimed at promoting health and wellbeing support and information to help when 

those challenges become hard to deal with. Advice and support includes; Mental Health 

Support, Health and Wellbeing, Advocacy and Healthcare Support, Bereavement, Grief and 

Loss, and Abuse, Violence and Sexual Support. 

https://www.bewellglos.org.uk/

There has been extensive involvement of the public and staff as part of our hospital services 

transformation programmes, Fit for the Future and the Forest of Dean Community Hospital. The 

two public consultations closed on 17 December 2020. 

A new hospital for the Forest of Dean
The Governing Body met on Thursday 28 January 2021 to discuss the findings of the Public 

Consultation: A new hospital for the Forest of Dean and the organisation’s response. After careful 

review of all the feedback from the latest Public Consultation and detailed consideration of 

developments in local healthcare and health needs in the area, the CCG has confirmed the range 

of services it will commission in the new Community Hospital in the Forest of Dean. The new 

hospital is expected to be open in 2023.

The new hospital will be run by Gloucestershire Heath and Care NHS Foundation Trust, with 

services primarily provided by their staff, healthcare professionals from Gloucestershire Hospitals 

NHS Foundation Trust and local GPs.

4. One Place, One Budget, One System

Page 103

https://www.ticplus.org.uk/
https://www.gloucestershireselfharm.org/
https://www.bewellglos.org.uk/


ICS Lead’s Report 14

Fit for the Future: Developing specialist hospital services in Gloucestershire

 Views were sought from the public and staff on options for organising the following services:

 Acute Medicine (Acute Medical Take)

 Image Guided Interventional Surgery (IGIS)

 Vascular Surgery

 Gastroenterology inpatient services 

 Trauma and Orthopaedic inpatient services

 General Surgery – conditions relating to the gut. Specifically, emergency general surgery, 

planned lower gastrointestinal (colorectal) surgery and planned day case surgery 

Feedback from the consultation was published in early January 2021 in an Interim Output of 

Consultation Report and an independently run online Citizens’ Jury was held in late January 2021 

The jury worked together to answer important questions about the Fit for the Future consultation.. 

Details of the Jury can be found here: https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-

developing-specialist-hospital-services-in-gloucestershire/citizens-jury/ 

As well as the Citizens’ Jury Reports, a number of additional documents, which will be considered 

by decision makers in March 2021, have been published:

 Trauma & Orthopaedic Pilot Evaluation 

 Recommendation on General Surgery configuration

The FFTF Consultation Team are contacting local people, groups, and stakeholders who 

participated in the Fit for the Future consultation last year to let them know about the additional 

information and inviting them to request web links to documents or printed copies as they become 

available. 

All additional information, and any further comments received will be used to inform the Decision 

Making Business Case (DMBC). The DMBC draws together all the information about Fit for the 

Future including addressing the themes of consultation and an updated Integrated Impact 

Assessment. The DMBC will be considered at the CCG Governing Body meeting in March 2021 

when a final decision will be made about the Fit for the Future proposals.

Page 104

https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-developing-specialist-hospital-services-in-gloucestershire/citizens-jury/
https://www.onegloucestershire.net/yoursay/fit-for-the-future-developing-specialist-hospital-services-in-gloucestershire/citizens-jury/


ICS Lead’s Report 15

As a Wave 2 Integrated Care System we are working towards increased integration to improve 

health and wellbeing, we believe that by all working better together, in a more joined up way, and 

using the strengths of individuals, carers and local communities, we will transform the quality of 

care and support we provide to local people. The System Development work stream captures the 

work to develop the overarching ICS programme. 

At the end of November NHS England/Improvement launched an engagement on the future of 

Integrated Care Systems and their ongoing development. The ICS Board worked together to 

respond to the engagement exercise. A white paper Integration and Innovation: working together to 

improve health and social care for all was published on 11th February 21 which outlines the next 

steps for Integrated Care System Development. Proposals outline statutory changes to increase 

integration and introduce a duty of collaboration between NHS organisations and between the 

NHS, Local Government and wider delivery partners. Other aspects of the white paper include: 

reducing bureaucracy, increasing accountability, strong place based working, improving quality & 

safety and maximising opportunities for improvement. As a system we are working through the 

implications for our system and how we maximise the benefits of the proposal for Gloucestershire. 

We will continue to involve staff and our population as any changes become clearer. It is likely that 

we will refresh our Long Term Plan ambitions as part of this process.

This report is provided for information and HOSC Members are invited to note the contents. 

Mary Hutton 

ICS Lead, One Gloucestershire ICS

6. Recommendations

5. Integrated Care System Development

Page 105



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Gloucestershire Health Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee (HOSC)

2 March 2021 

NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group (GCCG) 
Clinical Chair’s and Accountable Officer’s Report 

1. Introduction

Section A provides a general NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) commissioner update, incorporating national consultations. 
Section B provides a commissioner update focussing on primary medical care.
Section C provides Trusts’ updates from: Gloucestershire Health and Care 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHT).

Integrated Care System (ICS)
ICS Lead Report is provided as a separate agenda item.

2. Section A: Local NHS Commissioner Update, 
Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 
(GCCG) 

These are items are for information and noting.
Please note some of the items reported below may also feature in more detail in 

other reports prepared for HOSC e.g. ICS Lead Report, wherever possible 
duplication is avoided.

2.1 Covi-19 One Gloucestershire Response
See ICS Lead Report

2.2 Fit for the Future: Developing specialist hospital services in Gloucestershire
See ICS Lead Report 

Page 107

Agenda Item 9



2

2.3 A new hospital for the Forest of Dean 

The Governing Body met on Thursday 28 January 2021 to discuss the findings of 
the Public Consultation: A new hospital for the Forest of Dean and the 
organisation’s response.
After careful review of all the feedback from the latest Public Consultation and 
detailed consideration of developments in local healthcare and health needs in the 
area, the CCG has confirmed the range of services they will commission in the 
new Community Hospital in the Forest of Dean.

The new hospital will be run by Gloucestershire Heath and Care NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHC), with services primarily provided by their staff, healthcare 
professionals from Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) and 
local GPs. The new hospital is expected to be open in 2023.

The services that will be commissioned will be set out in a service specification; 
services will include:

o 24 inpatient beds with en suite bathrooms in predominantly single rooms
o An urgent care facility, open from 8am to 8pm, seven days a week, 

supported by a range of diagnostic services
o Outpatient services, including a range of consultation, treatment and group 

rooms and additional areas for online consultations for the provision of 
outpatient services

o Diagnostic services, including a dedicated endoscopy unit, x-ray, ultrasound 
and blood-testing (phlebotomy) and space for mobile units such as the 
Chemotherapy Bus and Breast Screening Service

o Parking for approximately 150 vehicles and agreement on a bus stop, either 
within the site or adjacent to it

o Flexible meeting space that can be accessed by health and care 
organisations plus wider voluntary sector organisations

The Output of Consultation Report, recommendations, supporting information and 
rationale can be found at www.fodhealth.nhs.uk/consultation

Alongside the Consultation there is a commitment to explore options for the 
provision of urgent care services in the south of the Forest, and it is pleasing that 
over 100 people have expressed an interest in being involved in this work.

The CCG and GHC are committed to progressing with the engagement in the 
South of the Forest of Dean. The CCG has included a new primary care premises 
as a priority in the plan and primary care colleagues (GPs) in the South of the 
Forest will be working up their plan with partners in the coming months.

This is a significant milestone for the district and a truly exciting development for 
healthcare in the Forest of Dean; local residents will benefit from a wonderful new, 
purpose-built hospital that will meet their needs and the needs of future 
generations.

GHC will now produce a formal business case setting out the design specification 
and financial plan for the building along with the ongoing operation of the new 
hospital. It is anticipated that this will be presented to the Board of Gloucestershire 
Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust for approval in spring 2021.

Page 108

http://www.fodhealth.nhs.uk/consultation


3

2.4 Gloucestershire receives up to £500,000 Healthy Communities Together 
funding

The county has been selected as one of six areas to receive an initial £50,000 
grant from The King’s Fund and The National Lottery Community Fund alongside 
development support from the Healthy Communities Together Programme. 

The Healthy Communities Together Programme forms part of efforts by The King’s 
Fund to improve health and care for people with the worst health outcomes. The 
programme also builds on The National Lottery Community Fund’s expertise in 
place-based funding, aiming to support local areas to develop effective and 
sustainable partnerships between the voluntary and community sector, the NHS 
and local authorities to improve health and wellbeing, reduce health inequalities 
and empower communities. A nine month planning and development period will be 
followed by the opportunity to access substantial further funding and support to 
deliver the plan.

The project and funding will enable the voluntary and community sector (VCS), the 
NHS and local authority to work in unison with communities and individuals to 
tackle health inequalities and improve health and wellbeing for everyone.

This news comes at the end of an already ground breaking year for 
Gloucestershire, as voluntary and community organisations, communities 
themselves and the individuals in them have played a major role in supporting the 
health and wellbeing of the local population throughout the pandemic.

The response to the pandemic in Gloucestershire has been nothing short of 
phenomenal, with the NHS, local authority, VCS, communities and individuals 
across our county working together like never before to support each other. A 
Healthy Communities Together grant means that we can go further, faster, making 
a positive impact on people’s lives and learning as we go.

This is an opportunity to reach people across the county, engaging and 
empowering communities to understand their needs and priorities, working 
together to improve health and wellbeing. In Gloucestershire we want to do things 
differently, ripping up the rulebook and developing a culture and way of doing 
things that allows us to ‘do with’ rather than ‘do to.’ By working in partnership, we 
can offer everyone an equal seat at the table, ensuring that we are truly inclusive 
so all voices can be heard.

VCS Alliance research shows that in Gloucestershire, 57% of the voluntary and 
community sector support health and wellbeing in some capacity. This is an 
exciting time, full of opportunities to find new ways of reaching those who in the 
past have been overlooked. By using both technology and traditional methods, 
people will be empowered to make their voices heard. 

All partners are looking forward to hearing from everyone in Gloucestershire about 
what really matters to them and how we can work together to improve lives.

To hear more about the Healthy Communities Together Programme visit:
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s3-T8SO14t0

Page 109

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=s3-T8SO14t0


4

2.5 EU Exit Planning
Following approval of the UK/EU Trade Agreement on 24 December, the UK 
officially left the EU on 31 December 2020. In preparation for this event we worked 
closely with all of our local providers to ensure we had six weeks supply of:

 medicines;
 medical devices and clinical consumables;
 non-clinical goods, such as food and linen.

We also ensured there were arrangements in place for clinical trials, research, 
clinical networks and General Data Protection Regulations to continue beyond the 
31st December 2020.

We also provided reassurance to our staff from EU countries and we will continue 
to promote the Settlement Scheme to any staff joining us from the EU, and 
encourage them to apply for settled or pre-settled status.

The key messages we have communicated to Primary Care colleagues are to:

 Prescribe and dispense medications as normal. Prescribing of additional 
medication following departure from the EU is not required

 Not stockpile medicines, vaccines or supplies. 

We have a process in place to escalate any issues that are impacting on patient 
care following departure from the EU, and want to provide assurance that we have 
not experienced any business critical issues to date

Going forward, if we did experience any business critical issues the following 
contingency arrangements have been put into place nationally:

 Government Secured Freight Capacity - The Department for Transport 
(DHSC) has procured capacity from the freight framework, including all 
health supplies.  This allows for 3,000 HGV vehicles bookings to be 
available per week on Ferries from Europe to the UK outside of the ‘Short 
Straits’ to bring urgent ‘Category 1’ goods into the UK.

 Express Freight Service - DHSC has retained its Express Freight Service 
arrangements with 3 specialist logistics providers to support the urgent 
movement of medicines and medical products to care Providers and 
patients if other measures experience difficulties

3. Department of Health and Social Care and NHS 
England Consultations

3.1 Information regarding Department of Health and Social Care consultations is 
available via the GOV.UK website: 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations

3.2 Information regarding NHS England consultations is available via the NHS 
England website: https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/

Page 110

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/
https://www.engage.england.nhs.uk/


5

The Department of Health and NHS England websites also include responses 
to closed consultations.

3.3 Department of Health and Social Care 
Access to all government departments and many other agencies and public 
bodies have been merged into GOV.UK 
Here you can see all news and communications, statistics and consultations. 
Find out how government services are performing and how satisfied users are 
https://www.gov.uk/

4. Section B: Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning 
Group (GCCG) primary medical care commissioning 
update 

These items are for information and noting.

4.1 Integrated Locality Partnerships & Population Health Management
ILP members across the county are continuing to adopt a Population Health 
Management (PHM) approach to determine patient cohorts and to collectively 
design interventions which proactively address health and wellbeing. 

For example in Gloucester ILP members are working alongside a local housing 
provider to identify individuals with respiratory conditions which may be 
exacerbated by poor housing. The project group has established a respiratory 
MDT structure and will be supporting an initial cohort of around 20 people to 
ascertain the most effective way to identify these individuals and make 
improvements to this wider determinant of health, to benefit individuals’ health and 
wellbeing as well as to reduce future healthcare requirements in this area. 
Evaluation points are planned at 6 and 12 months to review and consider whether 
wider rollout may be of value.  

Whilst in its infancy as an ILP, Tewkesbury is well formed and progress is being 
made with the four priority areas of Healthy Lifestyles & Prevention, Mental Health, 
Social Isolation and Loneliness and Employment & Financial Stability. For each 
priority a task and finish group has been established with a local leader as chair 
and varied stakeholder organisations contributing to early discussions about how 
the PHM data will drive cohort selection and intervention design. The ILP has 
agreed to utilise the PHM approach to improving outcomes for its population. 

We are currently developing a suite of products to progress the rollout of the 
Population Health Management approach since the completion of the ICS wide 
Population Health Management (PHM) development programme. These tools 
including our system development roadmap, Frequently Asked Questions, 
development programme case studies and toolkit to progress through the PHM 
cycle will support engagement and consistency of system adoption to further 
accelerate our PHM capabilities towards a ‘business as usual’ transformation 

Page 111

https://www.gov.uk/


6

approach. It is our intention to appoint one PHM Champion for each of the six 
Places in Gloucestershire, to further support the spread across the ICS. 

4.2 Digital implementation in Primary Care
There has been significant progress on digital transformation in Primary Care 
enabling staff to work more flexibly, as well as allowing clinical staff who are 
potentially vulnerable themselves to continue to work.  

Gloucestershire was particularly successful in its adoption of video consultation, 
SMS - texts and e-consultation solutions with GPs in Gloucestershire using various 
tools more than colleagues in any other area in the region per capita.  I

There are identified benefits in moving to a countywide consistent approach to 
digital implementation to allow better support for the digital solutions and their use. 
It was hoped that this work would be completed by the end of 2020, but due to 
pressures on the health system this has been delayed. 

The upgrade of the internal NHS network to Health and Social Care Network 
(HSCN), including bandwidth updates and additional resilience, continues apace in 
primary care and was due to be completed by Christmas. However, there have 
been delays, due in the main to Covid 19. At the time of writing this report out of 
the 101 sites (practices plus branch sites), 89 have been upgraded to HSCN and 
Windows 10 installed.  Work on completing the remaining sites is ongoing.  

4.3 Workforce support and development 
To support workforce development in harder to recruit areas, the CCG is 
supporting a national campaign to recruit clinical pharmacists for the Forest of 
Dean. Discussions are ongoing with Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust on potential rotational roles. 

A Social Prescribing Link Worker (SPLW) educational strategy is also under 
development, which will allow for better retention of these roles in Gloucestershire.  
Elements include clinical supervision, a lead SPLW role across the county and 
additional training both formal and informal.

Gloucestershire CCG and Gloucestershire Primary Care Training Hub have been 
active since late 2019 in bringing together stakeholders across the wider ICS to 
understand the workforce impact of the new professions coming into primary care. 
Approval has been received to recruit part time (0.2wte) workforce development 
leads for both Pharmacy and Physiotherapy for a 12 month period, to further this 
work.

Colleagues from the CCG and the Gloucestershire Primary Care Training Hub are 
scoping the creation of a GP Flexible Pool in county. Each STP/ICS area across 
the country will be able to access funding for set up which can be used to 
implement a digital software platform, which will be mobile ready, to assist with 
immediate and short term locum requirements.  

Page 112



7

4.5 Care Quality Commission (CQC) for General Practice
There have been no new CQC reports issued since my last update. Four GP 
Practices in Gloucestershire have a CQC overall rating of “Outstanding”, the 
majority (66) have a rating of “Good” and two have a rating of “Requires 
Improvement”.

5. Section C: Local Providers’ updates 
This Section includes updates from Gloucestershire Health and Care Services 
NHS Foundation Trust (GHC) and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation 
Trust (GHT), 

These items are for information and noting.

5.1 Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Foundation Trust 
(GHC)

5.1.1 Covid Update
Covid has continued to be the main focus of effort for the Trust, alongside the huge 
pressures on services due to the annual winter pressures. 

Covid patients have been cared for in the majority of our community hospitals, as 
well as our mental health inpatient units. The Trust has also cared for significant 
numbers of Covid patients within their own homes and within nursing homes and 
care homes. 

The Trust continues to provide the ‘Pillar 1’ testing service in the county. This is 
PCR testing for people who work in health and care organisations, as well as 
members of their household. Testing is also carried out on pre-operative patients, 
who are either tested at the drive-through pod at Edward Jenner Court, in 
Brockworth, or tested in their own homes or nursing homes by Trust clinicians or 
members of the fire service. In January 2021 the team carried out their 10,000th 
test since the testing service first opened in March 2020, which was a significant 
milestone.  Colleagues in GHC also use lateral flow tests to check their Covid 
status twice a week at home. More than 25,000 lateral flow test results have now 
been logged with approximately a 0.3% positivity rate. 

The Trust is leading the development of Long Covid clinics for people who 
continue to suffer with Covid symptoms 3 months after their diagnosis.  GHC is 
currently testing out a multi-disciplinary approach with colleagues from GHT with 
the aim to develop this as a key programme of support in line with the national 
guidance and be able to open it up for all GPs to refer patients into.

The Trust has needed to introduce some changes to services to accommodate the 
demands of Covid. This included the temporary closure of Minor Injury and Illness 

Page 113



8

Units at the Vale, near Dursley, and Tewkesbury. Some colleagues have been 
redeployed into different services where there is a more urgent need for care and 
treatment. There has been a big focus on helping flow through the system, freeing 
up beds in the acute hospitals either by helping patients to return home or by 
preventing admissions through the use of services such as Rapid Response. 

Another significant part of the Trust’s work has been supporting the Primary Care 
Networks and Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust on the mass 
vaccination programme. Some of our hospitals, including Vale, Cirencester and 
North Cotswolds, have been operating as vaccination centres for the local 
community. GHC has also taken responsibility for vaccinating some staff, as well 
as patients within community hospitals and inpatient units. Another significant 
focus has been supporting GPs with vaccinating their housebound population. 

5.1.2 Be Well Gloucestershire
A new campaign launched in January 2021 to highlight the support available for 
anyone experiencing mental health issues. Be Well Gloucestershire brings 
together statutory and non-statutory organisations, both local and national, into one 
central website enabling people of all ages to find the support most appropriate to 
them. 

As well as the website the resources are also being promoted on social media, 
through radio and print advertising and soon there will be leaflets delivered door to 
door for people with limited access to IT. The campaign is being funded through a 
£30,000 NHS England allocation to NHS Gloucestershire CCG, and is being 
coordinated by GHC on behalf of One Gloucestershire. It will run for 12 months 
and is particularly aimed at supporting our community’s mental health and 
wellbeing following Covid. More information is available at www.bewellglos.org.uk 

5.1.3 CQC Mental Health Survey 2020
Every year, the Care Quality Commission carries out a national survey of people 
who use NHS mental health services and reports are compiled for all 55 Trusts in 
the sector. GHC has recently received the results for 2020 and once again, the 
survey responses have been overwhelmingly positive.

The Trust’s results are ‘better’ than the expected range for 13 of the 28 questions 
(45%) and ‘about the same’ as other Trusts for the remaining 15 questions (54%) 
These results represent a further improvement when compared with our results 
from last years’ service user feedback in the same survey (Better = 38%, about the 
same = 62%).

The Trust is categorised as performing ‘better’ than the majority of other mental 
health Trusts in 8 of the 11 domains (73%) (last year: 7 out of 11, 64%).
There are some learning points for us as a Trust but the results are a testament to 
the expert and dedicated effort that colleagues are making to understand need, 
involve and respond well to people who use our services and their carers.

Page 114

http://www.bewellglos.org.uk/


9

5.1.4 Flu Vaccination Programme
Vaccinating our Trust colleagues against the flu has been more important than 
ever this year due to the increased risk of contracting flu and Covid, and we are 
pleased to report that more than 90% of frontline colleagues have received the flu 
vaccine. 

The GHC Childhood Immunisation team has also worked throughout the past few 
months to deliver the flu vaccine to all primary school children (Reception to Year 
6) and all Year 7 children in secondary school. The majority of immunisations are 
being delivered within schools. However, the team is also running catch up clinics 
in community venues. More than 40,016 school children have been vaccinated, 
which is a huge undertaking and the Trust is very proud of the team’s efforts. 

5.1.5 Staff Survey – Initial Outcomes
The Trust cannot yet share the full findings of the latest NHS staff survey, due to a 
national embargo. However, the Trust can say that our response rate for 2020 was 
much improved – 46.3% compared with 36% for the former GCS and 33% for the 
former 2gether. This is a huge achievement, particularly considering the fact the 
Trust have only recently merged and were in the midst of our Covid response 
during the survey period. 

The initial headlines show that 80% of staff ratings have improved or remained 
unchanged, with particular improvements made in communication between senior 
managers and colleagues, the extent to which colleagues feel the organisation 
values their work, how staff rate the Trust in terms of taking a positive action on 
Health and Well-being and colleagues reporting that the Trust has made adequate 
adjustments to enable them to carry out their work.

5.2 Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust (GHT) 

5.2.1 COVID-19 UPDATE 

Operational Context
Whilst the operational context for the Trust remains challenging, the lockdown, 
which remained in place at the time of writing this report, had impacted positively 
on community transmission and, more recently, on admissions to hospital. The 
number of COVID positive patients in our hospitals peaked at 236 in the week 
ending Friday 8 January 2021. The peak in April 2020 was 148. Positively, by mid-
February that number has dropped to approximately 60, although we continue to 
see new admissions every day.

Vaccination Programme
Very positively, the vaccination programme in Gloucestershire remains a huge 
success with the County featuring top of the national leader board with relation to 
those over 80 who have received their first vaccine; this currently stands at 99% 

Page 115



10

with the additional achievement of all care home residents (excluding those mid-
outbreak) having also been vaccinated. Vaccine supply has improved recently and 
if this is maintained the next milestone of having vaccination all people in Priority 
Groups 1-9 will be achieved by the 15th April and remain on track for all adults to 
have been vaccinated by the end of July.

All staff working in health and social care in the County have now been offered the 
vaccination, with second vaccinations now commencing. Work is ongoing to 
promote uptake to those staff groups where it has been lower including targeted 
webinars for colleagues from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) groups 
where uptake has been slower.

TRUST HIGHLIGHTS

5.2.2 Mental Health Care in Emergency Departments
A key strand to the Trust’s inclusion ambitions includes the experience of those 
with an underlying mental health condition – at any point in time we can expect 
around a third of our inpatients to have a mental health condition. Feedback from 
patients and their families has reminded us of the importance of looking after 
patient’s psychological wellbeing as well as their physical needs. For patients with 
existing or new mental health conditions, coming to hospital can be an especially 
daunting experience and never more so than when presenting to the Emergency 
Department. The group involves staff working in the service, colleagues from 
mental health services in Gloucestershire Health & Care Foundation Trust (GHC), 
Governors and perhaps most positively two Experts By Experience. Of particular 
note is the contribution of Dr Faye Noble, Consultant in Emergency Medicine and 
Jim Welch, Clinical and Operational Lead Nurse for Mental Health Liaison, GHC.

5.2.3 Recruitment drive for Health Care Support Workers
Under a national initiative to eliminate all Health Care Support Worker (HCSW) 
vacancies, the Trust has received national funding to recruit an additional 90 
HCSWs. A programme of activity to promote these roles locally will commenced in 
February which will showcase the opportunities available to join whether this be 
directly into the role, as an apprentice to gain a formal qualification or in a role 
designed to enable progression along our internal career pathway to becoming a 
Nursing Associate or Registered Nurse. The Trust is being innovative and inclusive 
in its approach to not only recruiting the best but ensuring it fulfils its aim to support 
reduction in social inequalities through its approach to local recruitment and a 
diverse workforce reflects the communities we serve.

5.2.4 Celebrating apprenticeships 
The Trust joined the national celebration of our apprentice workforce during 
National Apprenticeship Week from the 8th – 12th February. The Trust has stood 
out amongst others for some time with respect to the number of apprentices and 
particularly the range of areas and qualification routes that apprentices can access. 
Currently there are 268 apprentices across the Trust in a variety of different roles, 
with access to a range of qualifications from BTEC qualifications to degree. 

Page 116



11

Every apprentice is supported and developed to help them reach their full potential, 
achieve success and helped to progress into roles at the hospitals and an 
incredible 75% of our apprentices go on to permanent careers within the Trust; a 
number have also received regional and national awards for their achievements. 
Nurses, IT specialists, nursery nurses, audiologists and business managers are 
just a few examples of careers that have developed at the hospital from an 
apprenticeship.

5.2.5 Partnership Arts Project
This month, the Trust heard that it have been successful in what might be 
considered on a more unusual bid from an NHS Trust but reflects our developing 
approach to the way we are working with our communities. Anna Rarity has led the 
Trust’s efforts to develop a bid for partnership arts projects and, working with 
Gloucestershire Cathedral, Gloucestershire Action for Refugees and Asylum 
Seekers, Inclusion Gloucestershire and Gloucestershire Carers (supported by 
photographer, Ruth Davey) has been successful in securing £20,000 to take part in 
a 6 week online programme in “mindful photography” targeted at NHS staff and 
patients. Our new Arts Coordinator, Anoushka Duroe-Richards, will take part in a 
‘train the trainer’ course, so she is able to deliver future courses after we have 
completed this programme.

5.2.6 Medical engagement & career development 
In support of the Trust’s aim to further develop an inclusive approach to medical 
engagement and career development, Professor Mark Pietroni has appointed the 
first Associate Medical Director for Development, Mentoring and Inclusion which 
will be delivered through an innovative partnership model comprising two eminent 
clinicians. From 1st February 2020, Dr Ananthakrishnan Raghuram, consultant in 
respiratory medicine in the Trust and a “leading light” in the world of medical 
educational and the national Royal College of Physicians, will start in role and will 
be joined in the spring by Dr Andy Griffiths, OBE consultant anaesthetist at Torbay 
Hospital and Programme Director for Healthcare Leadership and Management at 
the University of Exeter.

5.2.7 Endoscopy training academy 
The Trust has been successful in our bid to become an Endoscopy Training 
Academy and will become one of just two endoscopy academies in the South 
West. This designation from Health Education England comes with capital funding 
that will enable us to expand the Cheltenham Endoscopy Unit to a four theatre unit. 
Having an additional, dedicated training theatre will allow us to support local and 
regional trainees accelerate their endoscopy training and development and allow 
them to catch up on training opportunities missed due to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

The Academy will work alongside the Gloucestershire Endoscopy Training Centre 
and further bolster the reputation of our unit and Trust and fits with our centres of 
excellence strategy and aspiration to become a University Hospitals’ Trust. The 
increased theatre capacity will also enable us to meet the growing demands on the 
endoscopy service and address the backlog of patients awaiting care that has 

Page 117



12

arisen through the pandemic. Huge thanks to Dr Paul Dunckley, Tara Wilson and 
the Medicine Division Team for pursuing and securing this award.

5.2.8 Green Spaces Appeal 
The hospitals’ charity is embarking on an exciting new project, the Green Spaces 
Appeal, to build a garden of commemoration at Gloucestershire Royal Hospital site 
in memory of all those who died, or lost a loved one, as a result of the pandemic. 
When finished (and pandemic conditions allow) the garden will be accessible to 
staff, patients and visitors. 

The charity will be working in collaboration with Dannahue Clarke a talented 
(celebrity) gardener and two local artists Sadie Kitchen and Jackie Lantelli to 
develop a outdoor space for contemplation and reflection. 

The theme of the dandelion will play an integral role in the design of the garden 
and reflects the use of this flower in our end of life initiative - Every Name a Person 
– for which the Trust got national acclaim. Donations will be sought to ‘sponsor’ a 
wire dandelion sculpture which we will showcase across our site when the garden 
opens in April, before being collected by the sponsors – a Gloucestershire 
dandelion themed display akin to the Tower of London Poppies!

6. Recommendations
This report is provided for information and HCOSC Members are invited to note 
the contents.

Dr Andrew Seymour Mary Hutton 
Clinical Chair Accountable Officer
NHS Gloucestershire CCG NHS Gloucestershire CCG

22 February 2021

Page 118


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	Minutes
	5 South West Ambulance Service Performance Update

	5 Community Phlebotomy Services
	6 Covid-19 Temporary Service Changes
	7 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group Performance Report
	8 One Gloucestershire Integrated Care System (ICS) Lead Report
	9 GCCG Clinical Chair/Accountable Officer Report

